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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the main board of the Stock Exchange (the “Main Board”)
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of Code
Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairlady’s Statement
FEHRESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, |
am pleased to present the audited annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2018 (the “Year”).

OVERVEIW

The revenue of the Group was decreased by approximately 40.3%
to approximately HK$26.9 million for the Year. The Group recorded
a loss for the Year from continuing operations of approximately
HK$34.3 million, as compared to approximately HK$28.4 million for
the year ended 31 March 2017 (the “Preceding Year”). The net loss
attributable to owners of the Company for the Year from continuing
operations amounted to approximately HK$34.2 million, as compared
to approximately HK$27.3 million for the Preceding Year.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group remains confident about the prospects
of the cultural industry including advertisement, travel, movie and
television, integrated agriculture, modern agriculture and new media.
The cultural and media industry throughout the world, and especially
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") is presented with a
huge opportunity. The Group intends to commence environmental
protection (“EP") and related businesses which may include
production and sale of EP construction materials and EP construction
engineering projects in the next year. The management will continue
to develop solid operating strategies of the Group and explore other
investment opportunities with a view to enhancing and improving
returns to our stakeholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank the management and
all the staff for their hard work and dedication to the Group, as
well as the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and
customers for their support over the years. The management is
confident in achieving better results in the future, creating added
value for the Group, Shareholders and all staff.

Wu Meirong
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 27 June 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER W R DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group derives its revenue mainly from: (i) provision of digital
television broadcasting and advertising in Hong Kong and the PRC;
(i) provision of car beauty services in Hong Kong; (iii) money lending
business in Hong Kong; and (iv) securities investments in Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$26.9 million, representing a decrease of 40.3% as compared to
that of approximately HK$45.1 million for the Preceding Year resulting
in the Group’s loss for the Year from continuing operations increased
by 20.9% to HK$34.3 million, as compared to approximately HK$28.4
million for the Preceding Year.

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Digital television

Revenue from the digital television segment was the main source
of revenue for the Year, representing approximately 86.7% thereof.
The segment revenue decreased by approximately 41.3% to
approximately HK$23.3 million for the Year, as compared to that of
approximately HK$39.8 million for the Preceding Year. The segment
profit for the Year from this operation decreased by approximately
30.7% to approximately HK$12.7 million, as compared to that of
approximately HK$18.3 million for the Preceding Year. The decrease
was mainly due to loss of some major customers. The Group will not
continue to invest in resources to develop Hunan digital television
due to development restrictions arising from some changes in
national policies. The management will focus on the development of
advertisement campaign in the near future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & & 515 5 2 4T

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued)

Car beauty

Revenue from car beauty segment increased by approximately 18.5%
to approximately HK$3.3 million for the Year, as compared to that of
approximately HK$2.8 million for the Preceding Year. The segment
loss for the Year from this operation decreased by approximately
37.0% to approximately HK$2.3 million, as compared to that of
approximately HK$3.6 million for the Preceding Year. The second
branch has failed to break even after two years of operation. The
management has decided not to renew the lease for its operation.

Money lending

Revenue from money lending for the Year was approximately
HK$265,000, as compared to that of approximately HK$2.5 million for
the Preceding Year. Such decrease was mainly due to the one-off
income incurred for the Preceding Year. As at 31 March 2018, gross
loan receivables amounted to HK$3.9 million (2017: HK$700,000).

Securities investments

The Group commenced securities investments in Hong Kong
since July 2016. The segment gain for the Year from this operation
increased by approximately HK$3.2 million to approximately HK$1.2
million, as compared to the segment loss of approximately HK$2.0
million for the Preceding Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & & 515 & 2 4T

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued) DED T (E)
Securities investments (continued) BEBREE)
Details of investments in equity securities listed in Hong Kong held ARNREBRAEEFRENEB LT ZRAZEZIRE
by the Group during the Year are as follows: BT
Number of
shares held Fair value
as at as at Gain (losses)
Stock Code  Stock Abbreviation 31 March 2018 31 March 2018 during the Year
R=ZB-—N\F R=ZB-—N\F
=A=+-—H =HA=+—H REEF U
A& 5% iR E ZARE (E518)
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
283 GOLDIN PPT SR E - - 1,285
530 GOLDIN FIN HOLD SRR - - 1,023
8103 TRILLION GRAND ERTERS 940,000 1,062 529
8202 INNO-TECH HOLD P Bl 1ZE A% 11,410,000 2,385 (3,162)
1166 SOLARTECH INT'L Byl 5,520,000 4,582 4,294
8173 UNION ASIA ENT B bR - - (2,768)
8212 CELEBRATE INT ER R R - - (668)
1387 RENHE COMM NG ES 300,000 46 (13)
8356 CNC HOLDINGS REIRTEE R - - 71
1130 CHINA ENV RES FEIREER 4,760,000 1,642 542
2112 CAA RESOURCES BEER - - 211
9,717 1,202
FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt 7% [E] 8
Revenue ON

The Group's revenue from continuing operations decreased by RAEE  AEBESERKLCEBREKRAN A
40.3% to approximately HK$26.9 million for the Year, as compared 26 9B &EIT B E—FELHIS1HEEBTE D
to that of approximately HK$45.1 million for the Preceding Year. The  40.3% ° Yt A KIER 4 = B RN BIZEIR 5 2B AT
significant decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to decrease  EE 2 W AR FTE -

in revenue contributed by the digital television segment.

Cost of sales and services 8 & & R A AR

The cost of sales and services from continuing operations decreased 7N [E 3k 1 B 48 2 75 2 S E M ARFS AR AN D 4
by approximately 40.0% to approximately HK$13.4 million for the  40.0%ZE#13.4B & 7T » F—EERLA22.3A
Year, as compared to that of approximately HK$22.3 million for the BT o IR EARNEE 2 W AJRIE—5) ©
Preceding Year. Such decrease was along with the drop in revenue

for the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & & 515 5 2 4T

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gross Profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit decreased by approximately 40.6% to
approximately HK$13.5 million for the Year, as compared to that of
approximately HK$22.8 million for the Preceding Year. Such decrease
was in line with the drop in revenue for the Year. The Group's gross
profit margin maintained at a steady level of approximately 50.3%
for the Year as compared with that of approximately 50.6% for the
Preceding Year.

Distribution costs

The Group's distribution costs from continuing operations decreased
by approximately 68.8% to approximately HK$445,000 for the Year, as
compared to that of approximately HK$1.4 million for the Preceding
Year.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses from continuing operations decreased by
approximately 9.3% to approximately HK$16.0 million for the Year, as
compared to that of approximately HK$17.7 million for the Preceding
Year. Administrative expenses mainly consist of staff costs,
depreciation, operating lease rentals mainly for office, legal and
professional fees and others. Such decrease was mainly attributable
to the stringent cost controls during the Year.

Finance costs

The Group recorded finance costs from continuing operations of
approximately HK$31.4 million, as compared to that of approximately
HK$28.3 million for the Preceding Year. The finance costs were
mainly arising from the interest expense on convertible bonds which
were issued in November 2015 and June 2016 with the effective
interest rates of 18.5% and 21.1% per annum respectively.

Loss for the year and loss attributable to owners
of the Company

The Group recorded a loss for the Year of approximately HK$34.3
million, as compared to a profit of approximately HK$130.1 million
for the Preceding Year mainly due to the absence of profit from
discontinued operation of approximately HK$158.4 million recognised
during the year. Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the
Year was approximately HK$34.2 million, as compared to a profit of
approximately HK$131.1 million for the Preceding Year. The basic
and diluted loss per share of the Group for the Year were HK$0.02,
as compared to the basic and diluted earnings per share of HK$0.20
for the Preceding Year. The basic and diluted loss per share from
continuing operations for the Year were HK$0.02, as compared to
the basic and diluted loss per share of HK$0.04 for the Preceding
Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & & 515 & 2 4T

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$2.1 million (2017: approximately
HK$12.3 million). The Group’s current ratio, being the current assets
of approximately HK$52.7 million (2017: approximately HK$63.8
million) divided by the current liabilities of approximately HK$139.7
million (2017: approximately HK$81.2 million), was computed as
approximately 0.38 (2017: approximately 0.79). The management
viewed that the ratio was not healthy and acceptable and will try
to improve the overall financial soundness and sustainability of the
Group.

The Group's total indebtedness comprised the amount due to a non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, borrowings and convertible
bonds with the total amount of approximately HK$207.5 million
(2017: approximately HK$230.3 million). The gearing ratio of the
Group, being the total indebtedness divided by total assets excluding
deferred tax assets and liabilities was 359.3% (2017: 285.2%) as at
31 March 2018. The incremental of the ratio was mainly due to the
decrease of deposit and cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$10.0 million and approximately HK$10.3 million respectively.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE RATE
AND TREASURY POLICIES

The majority of the Group's cash balances and transactions were
either denominated in Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars. The Group
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise. As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group did not have any
outstanding hedging instruments.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2018, the number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company was 1,900,674,675 shares (2017: 1,143,370,568 shares).
Additional shares may be issued by way of (i) conversion of the
convertible bonds which if fully converted would result in the issuance
of 3,600,000,000 shares of the Company; (i) bond interest payments
which if fully paid would result in the issuance of 129,731,506 shares
of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 [ 5156 & 25 7

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had a total of 39 (2017: 62) full-
time employees including the Directors. Such decrease was
primarily attributable to the reduction in the number of staff in the
PRC’s subsidiaries as a result of cost control and down sizing of
Hunan digital television business. Total staff costs from continuing
operations for the Year, including director's emoluments, were
approximately HK$10.4 million (2017: approximately HK$13.8 million).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS

The Group disposed of its entire equity interest in a subsidiary, Big
Success Enterprises Limited, which was engaged in sale of tobacco
agricultural machinery in the PRC on 6 February 2017. Except for
this, the Group had no other material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries and associated companies for the years ended 31 March
2018 and 2017.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group currently does not have any firm intention or specific
plans for material investment or capital assets. Apart from
strengthening the Group's current business, the Group will explore
new business opportunities which may benefit the Shareholders.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group did not pledge any of its assets as securities for any
facilities granted to the Group as at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2018 and 2017.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any significant capital commitment as at 31
March 2018 and 2017.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & & 515 & 2 4T

USE OF PROCEEDS Fri8sRIE A%
Net proceeds
Date of issuance (approximately) Intended use of proceeds Actual use of proceeds
ZTAEH FEREFREMN) MEeERERE IS FIEERA®E
22 April 2016 HK$112.5 million (i) settlement of the overdue PRCbank () approximately HK$19.1 million used for
—Z—-"FlA 1125888 borrowings of approximately settlement of the overdue PRC bank
—+=H HK$19.1 million; borrowings;
BREABFEBTEENIEES K191 B BB RN ERBTRRTEES
T (i) - approximately HK$18.6 million used for
(i) settlement of the small and medium settlement of the small and medium size
size private placement bonds of private placement bonds;
approximately HK$18.6 million; £18.6B BBTRNERT NMNENLEES
BERNENEESL1868EHE (i) approximately HKS5.4 million used for interest
TG payments of borrowings;
(i) settlement of the loan from a third WS AEEBTARZNHEERS
party of approximately HK$51.2 (iv) approximately HK$40.0 million used for
million; and investments in financial assets at fair value
ME=FREEFRNN2B8BET R through profit or loss;
(iv) remaining balance of approximately BA0EBATARNEER AR B ARG S
HK$23.6 million as general working AR

capital and/or investment opportunities (v) approximately HK$20.0 million used as

as may be identified from time to time. settlement of loan from a third party; and

BEN2BABETREREEES K00EEETRRENE=FEF K

YN T VA Y (vi) approximately HK$9.4 million used as general
working capital.
KOLREETRIE—REEER -
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. WU Meirong, aged 42, is an executive Director and chairlady
of the Board. She joined the Group and appointed an independent
non-executive Director on 30 August 2017 and re-designated as
an executive Director on 4 September 2017. Ms. Wu has extensive
management experience in corporate media, advertising and
information technology. Ms. Wu is a director and general manager
of ERA B EHREEIEAR AT, which provides the business
platform with Sharing Economy Demonstration Centre For Innovative
Transaction, and EM & Z 2 EEEEFR A A], which is engaged
in the health care industry. Ms. Wu is mainly responsible for the
strategic planning of those companies, especially in establishing
and maintaining the company’s positive public image. Ms. Wu is
also a member of nomination committee and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. JINGQUAN Yingzi, aged 43, joined the Group and appointed as
an executive Director on 22 November 2010. She was re-designated
from chairlady to vice-chairlady of the Board on 20 December
2017. Ms. lingguan is responsible for the formulation of corporate
strategy and steering the overall development of the Group. She
has extensive experience in strategic planning and management
for corporate in the PRC. Ms. Jingguan is also the chairlady of the
nomination committee and a director of certain subsidiaries of the
company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. CHIN Wai Keung Richard, aged 68, joined the Group and was
appointed as an executive Director on 15 August 2014. Mr. Chin
has over 35 years of extensive management experience in trading,
contracting and finance business and over 12 years of experience
in the positions of managing director of multi-national corporations.
From 2006 to 2009, Mr. Chin was the chairman and an executive
director of Intelli-Media Group (Holdings) Limited (now known as Pan
Asia Mining Limited) (Stock Code: 8173), the company listed on the
GEM. During 2002 to 2004, Mr. Chin was the deputy chairman and
an executive director of Dickson Group Holdings Limited (now known
as Richly Field China Development Limited) (Stock Code: 313), the
company listed on the Main Board. In December 2000, Mr. Chin was
appointed as an executive director (re-designated to a hon-executive
director in April 2001) of Hung Fung Group Holdings Limited (“"Hung
Fung”) (now known as Poly Capital Holdings Limited) (Stock Code:
1141), a company incorporated in Bermuda and was then principally
engaged in the designing, manufacturing and selling of toys.
Subsequent to resignation of Mr. Chin as a non-executive director
in December 2001 and as far as Mr. Chin was aware of based on
information available in public (as contained in the prospectus
of Hung Fung dated 13 May 2002), Hung Fung had entered into a
restructuring proposal which involved a compromise agreement
with a group of banks (the “Creditors”) to discharge all claims and
monies owed by Hung Fung to the Creditors which was completed
in or around May 2002. In October 1997, Mr. Chin was appointed
as an executive director of Mansion Holdings Limited (“Mansion”)
(now known as Digital Domain Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 547),
a company incorporated in Bermuda and was then principally
engaged in the business of fire safety, for the purpose of leading
the restructuring proposal which involved a compromise agreement
with Mansion group'’s creditors, being all banks for the release and
settlement of Mansion'’s outstanding bank loans. The restructuring
proposal was completed in 1998 and Mr. Chin resigned thereafter.
Mr. Chin is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. HU Chao, aged 34, joined the Group and was appointed as
an executive Director on 22 July 2016. Mr. Hu obtained a Bachelor
Degree in Law from Hunan University of Technology (formerly
known as Zhuzhou Institute of Technology). Mr. Hu has extensive
experience in legal consultation and had been providing consultancy
services for various businesses in the PRC. Mr. Hu currently serves
as independent non-executive director of GT Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 263), the company listed on the Main Board. Mr. Hu is
also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. LIN Yan Jenny, aged 47, joined the Group and was appointed
as an executive Director on 14 October 2016. Ms. Lin obtained a
Master of Business Administration from the New York University
of Technology. She has over 20 years of management experience
in various industries. She was a Deputy Director of Capital Markets
Guoco Capital Limited during the period from 10 November 2012 to
25 July 2015. She currently serves as an independent non-executive
director of Thiz Technology Group Limited (Stock Code: 8119), the
company listed on the GEM. During the period from 27 May 2013
to 10 June 2015, she was an executive director of Evershine Group
Holding Limited (Stock Code: 8022), the company listed on the GEM.

Mr. WANG Ronggian, aged 37, joined the Group on 1 April 2016
as a general manager and was appointed as an executive Director
on 8 June 2016. Mr. Wang holds a Master degree in corporate and
financial laws from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wang has
extensive experience in the areas of project management, corporate
finance, commercial trade, and legal practice in the PRC. Mr. Wang is
also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. WANG Anyuan, aged 46, joined the Group and was appointed
as an executive Director on 25 September 2015. Mr. Wang resigned
as an executive Director on 1 February 2018. Mr. Wang obtained
a Bachelor’s Degree specialising in maritime and communication
accounting from the Shanghai Maritime University in July 1994. He
joined China Merchants Group and served as the manager of the
audit (risk assurance) department from September 1996 to July 2001,
the chief financial officer of China Merchant Securities (HK) Company
Limited from July 2001 to January 2007 and general manager of audit
(risk assurance) department of China Merchants Finance Holdings
Company Limited from February 2007 to February 2008. In April
2008, Mr. Wang served BOCOM International Holdings Company
Limited as an executive director and head of China operation,
responsible for the equity sales. From June to December 2009, Mr.
Wang served CITIC Securities International as a director and head
of China operation, responsible for their securities business and
had been the account executive of CITIC Securities International
Company Limited from January 2010 to November 2012. In October
2012, Mr. Wang served as a deputy head of brokerage department of
China Investment Securities (Hong Kong) Financial Holdings Limited,
responsible for securities trading. In February 2013, Mr. Wang served
as a responsible officer of China Investment Securities International
Brokerage Limited of Type 1 (Dealing in Securities) regulated
activities as defined in the SFO. Since May 2013, Mr. Wang joined
Orient Finance Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited as a business director
of the brokerage department. Mr. Wang serves as an independent
non-executive director of F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited
(a company listed on GEM, Stock Code: 8347) since April 2017.
Mr. Wang is currently licenced with the SFC as a representative of
Orient Securities (Hong Kong) Limited to carry out type 1 (dealing
in securities) regulated activity and as a representative of Orient
Futures (Hong Kong) Limited to carry out type 2 (dealing in futures
contract) regulated activity.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. HAU Chi Kit, aged 46, joined the Group and was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 30 November 2016.
Mr. Hau is an independent non-executive director of China Zenith
Chemical Group Limited (Stock Code: 362) and eForce Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 943), both being companies whose shares are
listed on the Main Board; and Trillion Grand Corporate Company
Limited (Stock Code: 8103), a company whose shares are listed on
the GEM. Mr. Hau was a barrister-at-law in private practice from
2001 to 2008. Prior to becoming a barrister, Mr. Hau worked at the
Securities and Futures Commission. Mr. Hau is a solicitor. Mr. Hau is
also the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of
the audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. LEE Chi Hwa Joshua, aged 46, joined the Group and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 December
2007. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee has extensive experience in
the fields of auditing, accounting and finance. Mr. Lee currently
serves as an executive director and company secretary of China
Healthcare Enterprise Group Limited (Stock Code: 1143) which is
listed on the Main Board, an independent non-executive director of
Hao Tian Development Group Limited (Stock Code: 474), Hao Tian
International Construction Investment Group Limited (Stock Code:
1341) and Fujian Nuogi Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 1353), which are listed
on the Main Board; and China Fortune Investments (Holding) Limited
(Stock Code: 8116) and Cornerstone Financial Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8112), which are listed on the GEM. He was an independent
non-executive director of Teamway International Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1239) from March 2015 to August 2017 and
China Minsheng Drawin Technology Group Limited (Stock Code: 726)
from December 2013 to February 2015. Mr. Lee is also the chairman
of the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(Continued)

Mr. ZHAO Zhizheng, aged 65, joined the Group and was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 26 July 2012. Mr. Zhao
is qualified by the State Tobacco Monopoly Bureau (B EHE =
& B) of the PRC as a Senior Economist. Moreover, Mr. Zhao was
awarded as one of the Best Chinese Entrepreneurs by the China
Enterprise Confederation/China Enterprise Directors Association
in 2004. Mr. Zhao completed the Business Administration Master
Program Studies Course (L& 2 (MBA) I8+ R A2 &) organised
by the Graduate School of the Renmin University of China in 2000.
Mr. Zhao was awarded the Labour Award (fi —#2)#% &) by the All
China Federation of Trade Unions in year 1997. Mr. Zhao is also a
member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. LIU Ping, aged 44, joined the Group and was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 4 September 2017
and resigned on 1 February 2018 respectively. Mr. Liu obtained a
bachelor’'s degree in Technology and Economics from Xian Jiaotong
University, and a master’s degree in Engineering Management from
Zhejiang University. Mr. Liu has more than 20 years of experience
in high tech enterprise, equity investment and start-ups. Mr. Liu is
currently the managing director of China Merchants Capital. He has
been working as an investment manager, investment director and
a general manager of the investment and development department
at China Merchants Technology Group Co., Ltd., deputy general
manager of Shenzhen Sony Company and the managing engineer
of Shenzhen Huawei Company. Mr. Liu was an independent non-
executive director of Glory Flame Holdings Limited (a company listed
on GEM, Stock Code: 8059) from December 2015 to March 2017.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries principally engage in provision of digital television
broadcasting and advertising in Hong Kong and the PRC, provision of
car beauty services in Hong Kong, money lending business in Hong
Kong and securities investments in Hong Kong.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of review of the Group’s business and particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year as well as indication of likely future development in the
business of the Group are set out in the section headed “Chairlady’s
Statement” on page 5 and "Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 6 to 12 of this report.

Risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have been
addressed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report. In addition, various financial risks have been
disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis using financial key performance
indicators

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to the
business of the Group are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and the consolidated financial statements
in this report.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment
from its business activities. The Group continually seeks to identify
and manage environmental impacts attributable to its operational
activities in order to minimise these impacts if possible. The Group
aims to promote efficient use of resources and adopting green
technologies for emission reduction. For instance, the Group seeks
to upgrade equipment such as lighting and air-conditioning systems
in order to increase overall operating efficiency. To identify energy
efficiency opportunities, the Group measures and records the energy
consumption intensity from time to time.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in
parts of business to improve performance and efficiency of the
Group. While gaining the benefits from external service providers,
the management realises that such operational dependency
may pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses
in service including reputation damage, business disruption and
monetary losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group engages
only reputed third-party providers and closely monitors their
performance.

Relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated and
regularly review the employment policies on remuneration and
other benefits. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
customers and suppliers. The Group maintains close contacts with
the customers and has regular review of requirements of customers
and complaints. The Group will conduct review on the suppliers’
performance on regular basis.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 66 and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 67 of
this annual report. Other movements in reserves are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 70 to 71 of
this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 176 of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2018,
as required in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda (as
amended).

USE OF PROCEEDS

Details of the use of proceeds of the Company during the year are
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on page 12 of this annual report.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company issued the convertible bonds bearing interest at 6%
per annum in the aggregate principal amount of HK$130 million and
HK$120 million on 5 November 2015 and 28 June 2016 respectively.
The convertible bonds mature after three years and can be
converted into ordinary shares of the Company any time on or before
the maturity date at a fixed conversion price of HK$0.05 subject
to certain customary adjustments at the discretion of the holders
that are independent third parties. The net proceeds received from
issuance of the convertible bonds of approximately HK$235.9 million.
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the convertible bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$20 million have been convertible
into 400,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company. As at the end
of the financial year and at the time when the Directors approved
the report, no notice has been received from holders requesting
conversion. If all of the outstanding principal of convertible bonds
as at end of the year were converted into ordinary shares of the
Company at the conversion price of HK$0.05, 3,600,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company would be issued. Please also refer to note 33
to the consolidated financial statements for details.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of
the Company or the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF SHARES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation for the year ended
31 March 2018.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2018, sales to the Group’s five largest
customer’s accounted for 60.2% of the total revenue for the year
and revenue to the largest customer included therein amounted to
14.9%. Purchases from the Group's largest suppliers accounted for
28.5% of the total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein, no contract concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2018.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Wu Meirong (Chairlady)

Ms. Jingguan Yingzi (Vice-chairlady)

Mr. Chin Wai Keung Richard

Mr. Hu Chao

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny

Mr. Wang Ronggian

Mr. Wang Anyuan (resigned on 1 February 2018)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Hau Chi Kit

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua

Mr. Zhao Zhizheng

Mr. Liu Ping (appointed on 4 September 2017 and
resigned on 1 February 2018)

Ms. Wu Meirong (appointed on 30 August 2017 and
re-designated to an executive Director on 4 September 2017)

In accordance with Bye-Law no. 87 of the Bye-law of the Company
and Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, one-third of the Directors
will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(the "AGM").

Ms. Jingquan Yingzi, Mr. Chin Wai Keung Richard and Mr. Zhao
Zhizheng will retire at the AGM. Mr. Zhao Zhizheng has informed the
Company that he will not offer himself for re-election as he would
like to devote more time to pursue other business commitments.
Save as Mr. Zhao zhizheng, the above-mentioned retiring Directors,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the same
meeting.

Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will be proposed
and put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee (as
defined below) as set out below under the section on Nomination
Committee.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 13 to 18 of
this report.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Wu Meirong, Ms. Jingquan Yingzi, Mr. Hu Chao, Ms. Lin Yan
Jenny and Mr. Hau Chi Kit have entered into a service contract with
the Company but it is not for a fixed term and could be terminated
by either party by giving one month prior notice.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for the re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a services contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein under note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the holding company of the Company, or any of the
Company'’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Salary package for employees are structured by reference to
market conditions, staff's experience and individual performance.
Other benefits offered by the Group included medical insurance,
mandatory provident fund scheme, training subsidies, share option
scheme and discretionary bonus.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
recommended by the remuneration committee and decided by the
Board, with reference to the market rates, commitment, contribution
and their duties, and responsibilities with the Group. Details of
directors’ remuneration are set out in details in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
the Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set
out in pages 30 to 32 of this report and note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the ordinary
share of HK$0.0004 each in the share capital of the Company
("Shares”) and underlying Shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Future Ordinance (the “SFQ")), as recorded in the register which is
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
SFO or the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

EERTETBAERKRS RERBER
2B NRR

R-ZB-N\F=A=1+—H ' KFEFREARAEE
TTRABEARRR M EEBEE (EELESF LB
BRPI(TFE R BE D] EXVER) 2 AR BREA
T AL E{E0.000478 7T 2 ERAR ([ in ) RARREAR
o - BEABREN AR RIRIEEF R PR RIS
IN2MEFEELMAERRIAR - SIRIEFES
KAEHRPIRCEM LR AIZEAR MO A AEAR
A B SR Pl 2 e SOR BRI T

RER#BzHER

Number of Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity Shares held shareholding

EEHRE 51 iR G E R BHRBEDL

Ms. Wu Meirong Beneficial owner 63,146,301 3.32%
REBRL L E=EBA

Ms. Jingguan Yingzi Beneficial owner 1,130,500 0.10%
HRBE 2+ BEmEa A

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors & EXFfEEI R-E— ) \F=A=+—H

or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives' Interests and Short positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares” and “Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the year
was rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director
or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2018, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons (not being Directors or chief executives of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS FTERRBRBROREBERGD 2ERZK

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND KRB (&)
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying R RAEERS 2HFE
Shares

Number of Percentage of

underlying issued share

Capacity and nature Number of Shares held capital of

Name of Shareholders of interests Shares held (note (d)) the Company

PN

SEHEERGEE 2ETRA

REREHE B RERME BHERGHA (My=E(d)) Aotk

Yiu Kwok Ming Tommy Beneficial owner 80,458,628 420,000,000 26.33%
BB £4 BEmEEA

Lam Kai Tai Beneficial owner 16,800,958 180,000,000 10.35%
WINSES BB A

Lau Kevin Beneficial owner 24,950,958 180,000,000 10.78%
BIEzE BEmEEA

Winner Cosmos Limited Beneficial owner - 140,000,000 7.37%

(note (a))

KMEBER A A (@) EnEEA

Ng Kwok Wing (note (a)) Interest of a controlled - 140,000,000 7.37%

corporation
REIE (FfiFE(a) ERE N 5

Kitchell Osman Bin Beneficial owner 21,600,000 180,000,000 10.61%
Kitchell Osman Bin EnlEEA

wong Ying Seung Asiong Beneficial owner 21,600,000 180,000,000 10.61%
F it EmfaA

Chan Chak Kai Kenneth Beneficial owner 19,200,000 160,000,000 9.43%
PR = 5 BEmBEAA

Kwong Kai Sing Benny Beneficial owner 19,200,000 160,000,000 9.43%
BBRRAX BB A

Ip Cheuk Ho Beneficial owner 30,001,232 200,000,000 12.10%
EEx BEmEAA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS FTERRBRBROREBERGD 2ERZK
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND KRB (&)

UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying RGO REBERG ZHFR (&)

Shares (continued)

Number of Percentage of
underlying issued share

Capacity and nature Number of Shares held capital of
Name of Shareholders of interests Shares held (note (d)) the Company
R AT
HEHERGEE 2ETRA
BRRER B RERME BHERGOHEAE (F=E(d)) Bok
To Yuet Sing Beneficial owner 14,811,233 200,000,000 11.30%
AR EnEEA
Tsang Kai Ming Beneficial owner 52,151,233 200,000,000 13.27%
=R EnEEA
Song Chun Xiao (note (b)) Interest of a controlled - 600,000,000 31.57%
corporation
NEE(MFED)) RIEEE 2 R
Faith Elite International Interest of a controlled - 600,000,000 31.57%
Holdings Limited (note (b)) corporation
Faith Elite International REEE 2
Holdings Limited (Fff5E(b))
Latop International Beneficial owner - 600,000,000 31.57%
Investment Limited (note (b))
Latop International EnEEA

Investment Limited (Ft3E (b))

Zhou Yi (note (c)) Interest of a controlled - 400,000,000 21.05%
corporation
A—(Bi5E(c) XYEEE 2
Wing Wise Beneficial owner - 400,000,000 21.05%
International Limited
(note ()
Wing Wise International Limited Bz A A
(FF7E(0))
RN E Beneficial owner - 340,000,000 17.89%
RXE EnlEEA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying

FERRRIRD RAERBRD 2 Em R

S
IRJE ()

RBROREBRG 2HFR#E)

Shares (continued)

Name of Shareholders

BRREME

Capacity and nature
of interests

B RERNTE

Number of
Shares held

FEROBAE

Number of Percentage of
underlying issued share
Shares held capital of
(note (d)) the Company

R AT
2ETRA
BaLE

KFENHEROHE
(Fff=E(d))

Shimazaki Koji Beneficial owner 143,475,068 - 7.55%
IS17 == =] BEmEa A
Alexia Joulian Beneficial owner 143,341,900 - 7.54%
BRAR = EmEA A

Notes: MEE

(@) Mr. Ng Kwok Wing is deemed to be interested in 140,000,000  (a) REIL B BRI KFZER AT 2R Mm%

underlying Shares through his interests in Winner Cosmos Limited.

R A 72140,000,0008% FE AR 0 HE B #E %5 ©

(b) Latop International Investment Limited is directly wholly owned by (b) Latop International Investment Limited g Faith
Faith Elite International Holdings Limited which is directly wholly Elite International Holdings Limited & # 2 & #
owned by Mr. Song Chun Xiao. Mr. Song Chun Xiao is deemed & - 1 Faith Elite International Holdings Limited
to be interested in underlying Shares held by Latop International MAFELEEESERA - REESLEHFE
Investment Limited. AT Latop International Investment Limited Ffr #

BrERARGO PR ER

(© Mr. Zhou Yi is deemed to be interested in 400,000,000 underlying  (c) B — %t £ 3B B % K Wing Wise International

Shares through his interests in Wing Wise International Limited. Limited = # 25 M 4 48 /4 72 400,000,000 A% 48 &8 A%
DR ER -
(d) These shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise of the  (d) ERRAD AT AN A B 31T 2 AT R (& 25 AT BT 36 3

conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds issued by the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, no other person had any interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the
Shareholders and it became effective on 2 February 2009 and
remains in force for a period of 10 years from that date. A summary
of the principal terms of the Scheme is set out as follows:

(a)

(b)

030

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
share options of the Company (the “Option(s)”) under the
Scheme to the eligible participants (defined in paragraph (b)
below) for their contribution to the growth of the Company or
any subsidiaries of the Company and to provide the Company
with more flexible means to reward, remunerate, compensate
and/or provide benefit to the eligible participants.

For the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations, eligible participants of the Scheme
include any employee, director, supplier of goods or
services, customer, agent, adviser, consultant, strategist,
contractor, sub-contractor, expert or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or any
valuable services to the Company and any of its subsidiaries,
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
holder of any securities issued by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

Eligible Participants

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at their discretion,
invite any directors and employees of the Group and
any suppliers, customers, agents, advisors, consultants,
strategists, contractors, sub-contractors, expert or entity
that provides research, development or other technological
support or any valuable services to the Group; shareholders
and any securities holders of the Group (the “Participants”) to
participate in the Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Total number of shares of the Company
available for issue under the Scheme

The maximum number of the Share in respect of which
Options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of approval of the Scheme. The Board shall not grant
any options which would result in the maximum aggregate
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding Options granted but yet to be exercised under
the Scheme which provide for the grant of Options to acquire
or subscribe for shares exceeding, in aggregate, 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time. The
mandate of the Scheme was refreshed by the approval of
shareholders at the AGM held on 24 September 2015. As at
the date of this report, the number of Shares available for
issue under the Scheme was 10,812,347 Shares, after the
adjustment in respect of the share consolidation taken effect
on 15 October 2015.

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The maximum number of Shares, both issued and to be
issued, upon exercise of the Options granted under the
Scheme to each Participant in any 12 months period up to
the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company on date of grant unless it is approved
by shareholders in a general meeting of the Company with
such Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.
Any Option granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the issued share
capital of the Company and with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, in any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the Company.

Term of exercise of the Options

The period within which the Options must be exercised will
be specified by the Company at the time of grant. Options
granted may be exercised in whole or in part in the manner
provided in the Scheme by a grantee giving notice in writing
to the Company at any time during a period not to exceed 10
years from the date of grant.

BARERTE 2

()

(d)

(e)

RIBET B RT 2 AR AR ERK

RIERT 8] A BE R h 2 BRI S 2 B D
A S THBANILEFEIERAR
AIEBITRAZ10% - EFFTERUEME
IEE R AE - BBUREARE Al IR H A A
BEXRBRO 2B MR HERRITE
ZERBBAREITEmA TRIT BN &R
2R SHBREARRTRZEETR
K230% ° TEIEEEARRAN_-_F -1
FAA-ZTHABTZERBFAS L&
BERALET AEH - RAREBEH - 3R
“E-RAFTATRBERZBRHEOHE
HAARR - RIBF B ETZROEER
10,812,347/ ©
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(f) Payment on acceptance of an Option offer

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable by the
Participants upon acceptance of the grant of Options.

(g) Basis on determining of the subscription

price

The subscription price per Share under the Scheme is a price
determined by the Board and notified to each Participant
and shall not be less than the greatest of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a Share on the date of grant.

(h) Remaining life of the Scheme
The Scheme will remind valid until 1 February 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, no Options under the Scheme
have been granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.

There were no transactions required to be disclosed as non-exempt
connected transactions or non-exempt continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules during the
year. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events of the Group after the reporting period
are set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. The information on the
principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is
set out on pages 34 to 48 of this report.

COMPETING INTEREST

As at 31 March 2018, as far as the Directors are aware of, none of
the Directors has an interest in a business that competed or may
compete with the business of the Group.

AUDITORS

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2018 have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited. Elite
Partners CPA Limited will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Wu Meirong
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 27 June 2018
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TRERW S

The Board and the management of the Company are committed
to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
process. The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective management,
a healthy corporate culture, successful business growth and
enhancing shareholders’ value.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and the code provisions (the “Code Provision”) as set
out in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The principles adopted by the Company emphasize a quality
board, sound internal controls and transparency and accountability
to shareholders. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has
complied with the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2018, save
and except for the following:

1. Code Provision E.1.2 specifies that the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting. Ms. Jingquan
Yingzi, the chairman of the Board has been heavily involved
in the business operations of the Group. Despite her utmost
intention to be present at the AGM held on 29 September
2017 (the "AGM 2017"), Ms. Jingquan was unable to attend
the AGM 2017 due to other urgent business commitments
of the Group. Mr. Chin Wai Keung Richard, an executive
Director, has taken the chair; and

2. Code Provision A.1.3 requires of at least 14 days’ notice
should be given to all directors for regular board meetings.
For all other board meetings, reasonable notice should
be given. Due to the practical reasons, 14 days' advanced
notifications have not been given to all meetings of the Board.
Reasons have been given in the notifications in respect of
those meetings of the Board where it is not practical to give
14 days’ advanced notification. The Board will use its best
endeavour to give 14 days’ advanced notifications of Board
meeting to the extent practicable.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Board consisted of nine
directors, including six executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board has complied with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules to have at least three independent non-executive Directors
who represent more than one-third of the Board and with at least
one of whom possesses appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise pursuant to
Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board has a balance of skill and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company, and demonstrates a
proper diversity with its directors coming from different backgrounds,
nationality, professional and industries. The Director’s biographical
information is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors” of this report. There is no financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationships among the Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer are separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. As at 31 March 2018, the Chairman is Ms. Wu
Meirong and the Company has no appointment for the position of
chief executive officer. The Chairman is responsible for overseeing all
Board functions, while the role of chief executive officer is performed
collectively by executive Directors, excluding Ms. Wu Meirong, to
oversee the day-to-day operations of the Group and implementing
the strategies and policies approved by the Board.

The Board considers that under the current arrangement, the
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operations of the
Board, which comprises experienced and high caliber individuals
who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting operations of the
Group. The Board will review the effectiveness of this arrangement
from time to time and will consider appointing chief executive officer
of the Company when it thinks appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The three independent non-executive Directors are persons of high
caliber, with appropriate academic and professional qualifications in
the field of accounting or law industry. The Company has received
from each of independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers that
these directors to be independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua (“Mr. Lee") has been servicing more than
9 years in the Company, so his appointment was approved by
Shareholders with an ordinary resolution in the AGM 2017. Taking
into consideration of his independent scope of work in the past
years, the Directors consider Mr. Lee to be independent under
the GEM Listing Rules and Mr. Lee’s continued tenure brings
considerable contribution to the Group and the Board has benefited
greatly from the presence of Mr. Lee who has over time gained
valuable insight into the Group.

LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR THE DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for appropriate Directors and officers
liability insurance coverage to indemnify the Directors and officers
for their liabilities in respect of legal action against them.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
Ccompany’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for
the day to day management of the Company which is delegated to
the Chairman and the management.

All Directors have full access to all the information of the Company
as well as the services and advice from the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) and management. The
Directors may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision for all major issues relating
to policy matters, internal control, strategies, budgets, risk
management, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational issues of
the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management are delegated to the management.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his responsibilities to the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS %%zé*%tﬂ%%—aﬁ

The Board regularly meets in persons or through other electronic ZE e FTHESLEREBEMS TR TR
means of communication to review and determine the overall % NEHNEEEERE A NREE - EBHlE
strategic direction and objectives and approve quarterly, interim r‘ PHINFEXEUANERHEMEEEE - @3%
and annual results, and other significant matters. Due notices of the  FRBHMEFEHTELEESZ 2 2EEE  Hh
meetings are given to all Directors to attend and include matters for BTtz EH ° ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁkgﬁ/@z?t_ —N
discussion. Details of the attendance of each member of the Board ¢ A=+—HIEFEAREEE % EKB8ZE
at the meetings of the Board, its respective committees and the EB&RIREAESZ HEXRFIEEHINAT

general meetings during the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out as

follows:

Audit Remuneration  Nomination General

Type of Meeting Board  Committee = Committee ~ Committee Meeting
emgn e  ENZEE  §MZEE  REZEE BEIN-f
Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/

eligible to eligible to eligible to eligible to eligible to

Name of Directors attend attend attend attend attend
BEp? ; RERILRE REELR RERLE RERLR REELRE
Executive Directors HTEE

Ms. Wu Meirong (Chairladl) REBLL(FE) (a) 6/17 N/A N/A 072 0/1
Ms. Jingguan Yingzi (Vice-Chairlady) ¥ R¥A T +(5/2E) 717 N/A N/A 313 0/1
Mr. Chin Wai Keung Richard BEREE 517 N/A N/A N/A 7
Mr. Hu Chao il ihined 1717 N/A N/A N/A Al
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny Mkt 13/17 N/A N/A N/A 01
Mr. Wang Ronggian TEERE 6/14 N/A N/A N/A 0/1
Mr. Wang Anyuan ITRnhE (o) 7 N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Independent Non-Executive BUFHTES

Directors
Mr. Hau Chi Kit REBREE 1017 4/ 2/2 3/3 0/1
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua TRELE 1417 474 2/2 33 01
Mr. Zhao Zhizheng HEERAE 217 114 112 113 0/1
Mr. Liu Ping B Fa (©) 13 01 0/0 0N 0/1
Ms. Wu Meirong RERLL @ 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
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DIRECTORS' ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) Ms. Wu Meirong was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 30 August 2017 and re-designated to an
executive Director with effect from 4 September 2017.

(b) Mr. Wang Anyuan resigned as an executive Director with effect from
1 February 2018.

(© Mr. Liu Ping was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 4 September 2017 and resigned as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 1 February 2018.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairlady also held meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of executive Directors during the Year.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection by the Directors.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Directors are aware of their individuals and collective
responsibilities to the shareholders for the success and wellbeing of
the Company. To strengthen the effectiveness of the management,
the Board has established three committees, namely, the audit
committee (the "Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “"Nomination Committee”) to oversee corresponding aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All board committees of the Company have
defined written terms of reference.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company had established the Audit Committee on 20 March
2001. In order to comply with the revised CG Code, the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee was revised on 8 January
2016. The formation of the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference is in compliance with Rules 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among other
things (a) to review the Group’s annual report, interim report and
quarterly reports; (b) to discuss and review with the auditors of the
Company on the scope and findings of the audit; and (c) to supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control procedures and
overall risk management of the Group.

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely, Mr. Lee
Chi Hwa Joshua, Mr. Hau Chi Kit and Mr. Zhao Zhizheng. All of them
are independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua, who has extensive
accounting and related financial reporting expertise. The Group'’s
unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited annual results
and consolidated financial statements during the year ended 31
March 2018 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which
is of opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements and that
adequate disclosure have been made.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the Year. Details
of the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings as prescribed
aforesaid.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
GEM Listing Rules, and it is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure in relation
to remuneration of the Directors and senior management. It
schedules to meet at least once a year to review and determine
the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management and to make recommendation to the Board of
the remuneration of non-executive Director. In determining and
approving the remuneration of Directors and senior management,
the Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance and
profitability of the Company and with reference to the written term
of reference pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in the requirements under Rules 5.34 and 5.35 to the GEM Listing
Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, all of
which are independent non-executive Directors, and the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Hau Chi Kit.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee convened two
meetings to review the remuneration policy, terms of services of the
executive Directors and remuneration of senior management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established by the Company on 29
March 2012 with written terms of reference in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the GEM Listing Rules. Ms. Jingquan Yingzi was
appointed as the Chairlady of the Nomination Committee and other
members include Mr. Hau Chi Kit, Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua, Ms. Wu
Meirong and Mr. Zhao Zhizheng. The Nomination Committee has
the authority and duties as set out in the terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held three meetings to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
review the structures, size and composition of the Board.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of GEM Listing Rules, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
The company secretary reports from time to time the latest
changes and development of the GEM Listing Rules, corporate
governance practices and other regulatory regime to the Directors
with written materials, on the professional knowledge and latest
development of regulatory requirements related to director’s duties
and responsibilities. Up to the date of this report, all Directors have
participated in continuous professional development by reading in-
house training handbook, relevant materials or attending training
seminar on the topics related to corporate governance as follows:

HEEXRRE

RIZGEM E TR A2 ST AR FEA65MF - 28E
FRSEBEXERINDERFNRE ZAH K
EE o WHARERKSEHERNEESELABERA
BER - ARWETHRESERCGEM EMRA -
CEERAFTHRAREMBEEHIE 2 K2 &%

C WRHAREERERBE c BXMNBLEE
RERFERZEEEFR - BEARS A - 288
SR A BHENREIITFM - EREENKEFEE
MEEERTEZEIBEM2ESEERER -
BT

Reading materials/ Attending
In house briefing Seminars
Name of Directors EER RIS ER HH FEE 5 B
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. WU Meirong (Chairladly) REBRT(FE) 4 -
Ms. lingquan Yingzi (Vice-chairlady) HR¥ER (£ /E) v -
Mr. Chin Wai Keung Richard R AE v -
Mr. Hu Chao HARRSEAE v/ 4
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny Mk o A v -
Mr. Wang Ronggian THEBRE v -
Mr. Wang Anyuan FRTHE 4 -
Independent Non-Executive VFHITES
Directors
Mr. Hau Chi Kit BEEGTE v 4
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua FRESLLE v 4
Mr. Zhao Zhizheng WEELE v -
Mr. Liu Ping 2 & v -
All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous 2 REZFAABESZEHRIEEN - WEAES

professional development and are committed to participating any
suitable training or reading relevant materials in order to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Company continued to adopt a code of conduct
regarding Director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors for the Year.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining and reviewing
the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Group. The
internal control system is to safeguard the assets of the Group and
the Shareholders’ investment and to ensure the reliability of financial
reporting as well as compliance with the relevant requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Board
had reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control of
the Group, which covered all material aspects including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
of the Group. The Board also considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experiences of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training program and budget.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensure
that the consolidated financial statements are in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors also ensure the timely publication of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. The Directors confirm that,
to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, having
made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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HE

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The management of the Company have discussed with auditors and
the auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 contained:

1)

a qualification for the limitation on the scope of audit in
relation to the disposal of Big Success Enterprises Limited and
its wholly owned subsidiary, Jiangsu Kedi Modern Agriculture
Company Limited for the year ended 31 March 2017. Details
of which has been set out in the independent auditor’s report
dated 26 June 2017. As the auditor’s report on consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2017 formed the basis for the corresponding figures
presented in the current year’s consolidated financial
statements, any adjustments found to be necessary in
respect of the limitation would have a significant effect on
the opening balances on the consolidated financial position
as at 1 April 2016, consolidated results and cash flow for
the year ended 31 March 2017 and the related disclosures,
accordingly, the opinion on the comparative figure is
therefore modified. The qualification will not be carried
forward in the financial statement for the year ending 31
March 2019.

multiple uncertainties related to the going concern basis,
details of which has been set out under basis for disclaimer
of opinion in the independent auditor’s report.

The Audit Committee regularly and critically review with any
judgmental area. For the year ended 31 March 2018, there are no
disagreements between the Audit Committee and the management
of the Company concerning the disclaimer of opinion.
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DISCLOSURE OF THE CHANGES IN THE
INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, changes in the
information of the Directors required to be disclosed in this report
are as follows:

In August 2017, Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua resigned as an independent
non-executive director of Teamway International Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1239).

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the remuneration paid and
payable to the auditors of the Company in respect of the audit
services was HK$580,000 (2017: HK$530,000).

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The disclosure of the Group's information in a reasonable and
timely manner by the Board is to facilitate the Shareholders and the
investors to have better understanding in relation to the business
performance, operations and strategies of the Group. Through our
website which allows the Company’s potential and existing investors
as well as the public to assess and acquire the latest company and
financial information.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the Shareholders, the
investors and the public are as follows:

- Delivery of the annual, interim and quarterly reports; and

- Publication of announcements on the annual, interim and
quarterly results on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company'’s website, and issue of other announcements
and notices, and shareholders’ circulars in accordance with
the continuing disclosure obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Au Yeung Yiu Chung (“Mr. Au Yeung") has been appointed as the
Company Secretary on 23 May 2018. Mr. Au Yeung holds a Bachelor
of Science in Applied Biology with Biotechnology, the degree of
Master of Business Administration from University of Wales, Newport
and the degree of Master of Corporate Governance from The Open
University of Hong Kong. He is an associate member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom. Mr. Au Yeung
is currently an executive director of eForce Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 943) which is a company listed on the Main Board. During the
Year, Mr. Au Yeung has undertaken over 15 hours of professional
training pursuant to Rules 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules to update his
skills and knowledge.

Mr. Ngan Kam Biu Stanford (“Mr. Ngan") was the Company Secretary
during the period from 6 April 2017 to 23 May 2018. Mr. Ngan holds
a Master degree of Arts in Quantitative Analysis for Business and
a degree of Bachelor of Accounting and Finance with Honours. He
is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. During the Year, Mr. Ngan has undertaken over 15
hours of professional training pursuant to Rules 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules to update his skills and knowledge.

Ms. Lai Wai Ha (“Ms. Lai") was the Company Secretary during the
period from 6 February 2016 to 6 April 2017. Ms. Lai is an assistant
director of Akron Advisory Limited, a professional firm providing
corporate secretarial and advisory services. Ms. Lai holds a
degree of Bachelor of Laws with Honours and has over 15 years
professional and in-house experience in company secretarial field.
Ms. Lai is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the United Kingdom. During the Year, Ms. Lai has
undertaken over 15 hours of professional training pursuant to Rules
5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules to update her skills and knowledge.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are properly followed and for facilitating communications
among Directors as well as with Shareholders and management.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings (the “EGM") of the Company shall be
convened on the requisition of any one or more Shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. Such shareholders shall have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition; and the EGM shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s), as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A Shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the Shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she
intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Making Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send written enquiries or requests,
either by post, by facsimiles or by email, together with his/her
contact details, such as postal address, email or fax, addressing
to the Board of the Company at the following address or facsimile
number or via email:

Room 2007, 20th Floor, C C Wu Building, 302-308 Hennessy Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3583-5683

Email: info@code-hk.com

All enquiries shall first be collected by the Company Secretary who
shall report to the executive Directors periodically. The executive
Directors shall review the enquiries and collect answers from
relevant department. The executive Directors will reply the enquiries
directly or authorise the Company Secretary to reply enquiries in
writing.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition or enquiry to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and identification
in order to give effect thereto. Shareholder original duly signed
written requisition or enquiry is disclosed as required by law.

Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhance investor relations. It is committed to a policy
of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its
shareholders and investment public. The Company updates its
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports. The
corporate website of the Company (http://www.code-hk.com) has
provided an effective communication platform to the public and the
shareholders. During the review period, there had been no significant
change in the Company's constitutional documents.
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Environmental Social and Governance Report
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INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

This report is the second Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the “ESG Report”) in compliance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the"ESG Reporting Guide”)
in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. This report discloses the
Group’s performance on Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") focusing on the accomplishments over the period between
1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 (the “Year").

The ESG Report intends to give insight into the approach adopted and
actions taken by the Group regarding its operations and sustainability
that have implication for the Group and the interest to stakeholders.
The ESG Report has been presented into two aspects, environmental
and social aspects which will focus on our two core businesses,
provision of digital television services in Hong Kong and the PRC and
the provision of car beauty services in Hong Kong. During the Year
under review, the Group committed to a high standard of corporate
social responsibility and strictly complied with the requirements of
relevant laws and regulations as addressed by the ESG Reporting
Guide.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT
A.1 Emissions and pollutants

The environmental pollutants generated by the Group
for the Year mainly include: wastewater, gases,
hazardous wastes and non-hazardous wastes.

Discharge of wastewater and related measures
The wastewater generated by the Group mainly refers
to the industrial wastewater and domestic wastewater.
The industrial wastewater includes the wastewater
from car wash, car repair and maintenance and
equipment cleaning water. The domestic wastewater
mainly refers to the waste water generated in the
office.

To comply with the advocacy of “Green Garage”
launched by the Environmental Protection Department,
the Group has built suitable drainage systems in the
workshop and only discharge treated wastewater
to foul drains. Our Group is not encouraged to allow
water to run continuously from taps and sprays in
order to reduce wastewater discharge. To ensure the
effective use of water and lessen the waste due to
leakage, we have performed regularly check-up for
our equipment.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued) A RIBEE@®
A.1 Emissions and pollutants (continueq) A1 BERRSEY (&)

Discharge of gases and related measures REEHEM R AEBAEE
The gases generated by the Group mainly refers to the AREFBESE VAR IEAERES
odour and paint mist generated by the paint spraying ZREREBRALBGIER fES
and exhaust emission generated by repairing and HREE A 2 BERBERR o
maintaining the vehicle.
The process is conducted in paint spray booth or ZERFEERENEMEEZR
designated compartments in the workshops. During BIRETT - EE2BEH  Bh=
paint spraying, the doors of the paint spray booth Z S 2E - Bk EmK & EZE R
is closed tightly to avoid leakage of odour and B ERERETEREDZEER
paint mist. The paint spray booth and designated B IRBRRIEE SRS R HRE
compartment are installed with air pollution control BANE B R B EE RS
facilities including paint mist filtering facilities. As the & et HEEHERER o T
Group also provides the vehicle check-up for exhaust TE PR ) [ P 3 1T 8 B 3 B LA R
emission, exhaust is emitted during the check-up. BEREKZTE - BMTERAE
We conduct the engine tuning in the restricted area BEREEMAFEMOIER - K
in order to decrease the nuisance caused by exhaust EEINFHEESBERME -
gas. We do not allow vehicle exhaust gas to escape
uncontrolled, affecting nearby residents. Our Group
also maintains the facilities regularly.
Discharge of hazardous wastes and related BERYHE MR AR
measures
The hazardous wastes generated by the Group mainly REFBREA BERYETELE
refers to organic solvents and paint generated by the BRFTEEE 2 MR AR
paint spraying.
As these wastes are chemical wastes, it must be HRZEREYACEREY) - tH/AE
handled with due care in order to avoid pollution of ERRIE AL 2R T+ E
soil or drainage system by chemical waste. We store HOKZRG - BFIN BB GEE L2
these wastes in the designated areas having wall IR 2 3 E B TFIGZ S Y
and impermeable floor. We handle these hazardous WIREAE R ERITZ SR EEDY
wastes according to the statutory requirements.
Discharge of non-hazardous wastes and related EEBEYHER R EEER
measure
The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group AREFBEAVEZEEYWEERRE
mainly refer to household garbage. Wik o
We have cleaned and transported the household HMEBEREETEERENIR -
garbage timely for not generating the smell, stink and ABTIEEAEERIR - RIRKRE B
flies pollution to the neighbourhood. SR o
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued)
A.2 Use of resources

The Group mainly utilise the electricity and water
during the course of business.

The electricity is consumed through lighting and air-
conditioning during production and broadcasting and
the emissions from business travel through Hong
Kong and the PRC.

During the Year, the Group reported consumption of
the sum of 41,994 kwh of electricity.

The water is consumed through production use and
domestic use. The production use refers to the use for
performing the car wash services and the domestic
use refers to the office.

During the Year, the Group reported consumption of
the sum of 3,555 m3 of water.

To consume electricity and water effectively, the
Group adopts the following measures to reduce the
consumption, including:

. turning off the electronic equipment when it is
not being used and switch the lights off before
leaving the office and the workstations;

. repair and maintain the electronic devices
regularly to avoid overconsumption due to
malfunction;,

. deploying energy-efficient devices which

carry Energy Label issued by the Electrical and
Mechanical Service Department; and

o advocating the temperature at the office and
workstations to be remained at 25.5 degree
Celsius.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued)
A.3 Environmental and natural resources

The Group is @ member of the community and is
proactive to preserve the environment.

The Group has developed the Environmental
Management System which has been certified to
comply with 1SO14001. The Group will regularly
spread the practical tips and information about the
environmental friendly action to the management and
employees to minimize the impart of the business on
the environment.

To be an environmental-friendly member, we adopt
the following measure to use the natural resources
effectively apart from electricity and water, including:

. reducing the use of paper and encourage
duplex printing and reusing of single-side
printed papers,
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B.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued)
A.3 Environmental and natural resources

(Continued)

. strictly complies with relevant environmental
laws and regulations towards local laws and
regulations on environment in the PRC and
Hong Kong such as Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China {F % A
REFMBEIRBERE L), Law of The People’s
Republic of China on The Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution { & A £ 4L
FE AR5 40 65%) and Urban Drainage and
Sewage Treatment Ordinance {3 S8 Hk 7K £d 55
IKERIR 5{51); and

o performing regular assessment in analysing
data in aims to better manage the use of
resources.

SOCIAL ASPECT

B.1

Employment and Labour practices

The Group advocate employee-friendly environment
with fair and equal opportunities for people with
different age, gender, race, colour, sexual orientation,
disability or marital status in order to increase the
satisfaction and sense of belongings of employees.
The Group also provide competitive renumeration
for employees and try to provide the platform for
employees to realize the personal value.

The Group has established a set of comprehensive
human resources policies regarding employment,
promotion, dismissal, training, welfare and
renumeration.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

B.1

Employment and Labour practices
(Continued)

The Group therefore complies with the following rules
and regulations strictly, including, Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China /A & 2L A1 3 45 &% )
(the “PRC Labour Law”), Labour Contract Law of
People’s Republic of China (FhE A R LM BIA BN A RE)
(the "PRC Labour Contract Law"), Hong Kong Employee
Ordinance, Hong Kong Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance and other relevant employment laws applicable
to the jurisdictions where the Group operates.

The Group have then formulated the human
resources policies and procedures and additional
bonus and incentives into the renumeration system.
The renumeration of employees is determined by
duties and align with the market rate. The welfare
that the Group provides includes retirement pension,
medical insurance, etc. Staff handbook also highlights
important information of policies on compensation,
employee benefits including medical insurance, rights
on termination, business conduct and leave benefits.

Employees’ performance is evaluated on a timely
basis so that it could be also reflected in employees’
renumeration accordingly. The Group values the
personal development of employees and establishes
training programmes for employees to join so that it
could cultivate the potential future leader.

Social activities includes annual dinner, team building
and other social events are organised for employees
in order to have their work-life balance, decrease
employees pressure and discomfort, boost the morale
of employees and enhance the bonding among
employees.

Apart from that, the Group review and may update the
human resources policies from time to time to prevent
from violating the labour laws.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECT (continued) B. #HEEHE®)
B.2 Health and Safety B.2 REHZZE

056

Employees are crucial to the Group and maintaining
employee’s occupational health and safety plays an
important role for the Group.

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
Group then strictly complies with the related laws
and regulation including Regulation on Work-related
Injury Insurance { T 5 {R k& 1§l ), Measures for the
recognition of work-related Injuries  T1§32E 77 5%),
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases { /1
= R BB SR 8%, Waste Disposal (Chemical
Waste) (General) Regulation of Hong Kong { & 1 iz 32
({bE2gEd) (—/%) 3R 51) and Occupational Safety and
Health Regulation of Hong Kong ¢ B % % % K 2 BE {6 f51)
for a healthy and comfortable working environment.

There is also fire prevention protection including
fire-fighting equipment such as fire extinguisher
and fire detection equipment are equipped and
checked regularly to prevent any fire outbreak. Staff
also participate in regular fire drill and smoking is
prohibited in all areas.

Apart from this, the Group operates car beauty
service which stores various kinds of chemicals that
might harm the safety. The Group cast more attention
to store and to handle these chemical timely and
properly and enhance the employees’ awareness so
that it could prevent from any gases leakage, fire or
explosion due to inappropriate storage. The Group
has an instructor guide for using the materials and the
reminders for using those materials.

During the Year, the Group has reported zero work
related fatalities and work injuries.
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B.

SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)
B.3 Development and Training

The Group values the personal development of
employees and therefore establishes training
programmes for employees to join so that it could
cultivate the potential future leader.

The Group encourages for lifelong learning in order
to adapt to this ever-changing world. Employees are
encouraged for continuous development so that they
can broaden and expand their skillset and mindset
through training, grow in the Group and ultimately
could contribute to our society.

To realise the growth of staff in the Group, various
internal and external trainings and workshops
periodically throughout the year are provided.
Those programmes focus on aspects including
but not limited to financing, accounting, corporate
governance and others directly related to the business
of the Group. More importantly, the trainings focus
on improving the employees’ knowledge, skills and
attitude. The Group reserves a fund for Directors and
all levels of staff for training and reviews annually if
the fund is sufficient.

To facilitate the new staff to familiarise with the
Group, orientation and on-job training are provided.
Staff evaluation is performed annually so that both the
Group and the staff review what can strengthen or
improve afterwards.
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

B.4

B.5

Labour Standards

The Group is strictly obeyed to the PRC Labour Law
and Employee Ordinance, Chapter 57 of the law of
Hong Kong. We strictly prohibit to hire any individuals
under legal working age or without any identification
documents.

In the recruitment process, human resources
department will request the candidate to present
effective identification document. Other than that, the
human resources staff will perform reference check
accordingly to the materials provided. The Group has
strictly obeyed related local law on equal employment
opportunity. The Group signs the labour contracts with
all employees with mutual agreement.

The Group sets up a anonymous whistling-blowing
system and encourage staff to blow the whistle if they
are forced to do against their will or under threat of
punishment. Through such system, the Group could
become more transparent and fair.

During the Year, there is no labour dispute between
the Company and its staff.

Supply Chain Management

The Group values every stakeholder, especially
suppliers, as it could bring profound impact on our
business.

It is believed that maintaining good relationship
with suppliers could lead to have competitive edge,
enhance the quality brought to customers and
ultimately to have better results. During the Year,
the suppliers of the Group maintained steadily which
provided the services and materials to the Group
stably as well. The Group believe that these suppliers
could maintain long-term business relationship and
ensures the economic interest, and legitimate rights
and interests of both suppliers and the Group.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)
B.6 Product Responsibility

B.7

The Group values significantly to our services quality
and the loyalty of our customers and business
partners. Customers top our priority and we focus on
their service experience and after-sales services.

The Group establish and launch customer
communication system so that customers give
feedback and the Group could gather, handle and
analyse the feedback. Subsequently, the Group would
allow to have better response in order to meet the
need and expectations of customers. From achieving
this, the Group could retain loyal customers.

Apart from that, the Group gather data of customers
personal information and services enjoyed. Therefore,
the Group establish the information management
system policies to provide guidance to staff on
maintaining and using the data and restrict the access
or use where necessary to protect the interest of the
Group. Data is classified into different levels according
to the confidentiality as public, internal, and restricted/
confidential. In order to protect consumer data and
privacy, we will keep the client information together
and destroy on a timely basis with due care.

Anti-Corruption

Anti-corruption and money laundering

The Group values the integrity and justice enormously.
The management of the Group establish the code of
conduct and employees in the Group must strictly
comply with the codes in their daily duties. Through
communications with employees from time to time,
the rules and regulations are frequently conveyed. The
Group expect the employees obey the law, uphold
their principles, and reject any beneficial temptations
in order to prevent from involving in corruption and
money laundering.
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

B.7

B.8

Anti-Corruption (continued)

Anti-corruption and money laundering (Continued)
The Group strictly abide by all relevant laws including,
Criminal law of the People’s Republic of China € A %
A R IR E % ), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law
of the People’s Republic of China { /1 = A R £ F1
RAIEE 5%, Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of
Hong Kong, Theft Ordinance of Hong Kong, Corruption
Prevent Guide for the Listed Company of Hong Kong
and all other relevant laws and regulations.

Directors, their associates or, any Shareholders who
own more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company, do not have any interest in the Group's five
largest customers and the five largest suppliers.

During the Year, the Group has not received any
complaint or notification from governmental
authorities regarding non-compliance of the Group
or its employees with anti-corruption laws referred to
above.

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group has a whistleblower policy which a
complaint channel is established for employees or
other parties to confidentially and/or anonymously
report any actual or suspected occurrence of
improper conduct involving the Group.

Community investment

Community involvement

The Group values the community that it lives and
takes its responsibility to promote the sustainable
development and build a harmonious society. We plan
to activate launching different kinds of contributions
including, donation, charities, and so on. Assessment
will be taken on how to integrate business activities
with the interests of community. Also, the Group
is committed to provide career opportunities to
the locals and promote the development of the
community’'s economy.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Shareholders of
CODE AGRICULTURE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages
66 to 175, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1)

062

Corresponding figures and comparative
financial statements

The auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 contained a
qualification for the limitation on the scope of audit in relation
to the disposal of Big Success Enterprises Limited and its
wholly owned subsidiary, Jiangsu Kedi Modern Agriculture
Company Limited. Details of which has been set out in the
auditor’s report dated 26 June 2017.

As the auditor’s report on consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 formed the
basis for the corresponding figures presented in the current
year’s consolidated financial statements, any adjustments
found to be necessary in respect of the limitation would
have a significant effect on the opening balances on the
consolidated financial position as at 1 April 2016, consolidated
results and cash flow for the year ended 31 March 2017
and the related disclosures, accordingly, our opinion on the
comparative figure is therefore modified.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

TREAERAZEE
1) ABHTREBUBEE

EEEEE_T—tF=-A=1T—HLF
ERAMBHRIZBMBRSESEHL
ERNEEERARREZEFARILEH
MR EEARARNFTAZERBER
HlzREER - EAHBENBEHA-F
—tEFRNA T TRBZRBENRE -

B EREHE—_T—tF=-A=t—
Bt FESEMBRRZBENRE KA
FEEAVMBRIMEZINAERHFZE
7 - BU LA R S PT A VR 2 (AR
B RBefR—_FT-—FOA-BHaH
BRR FERR  BE_FT—LF=A
=t BALEFEZHEAEENRSREN
RABERBEENEATE Bt - A
BB RILL BB F 2 B R RBLIL T IAERT ©



Independent Auditor’s Report ¥& 37 #Z 2§ &fi 5 &

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2)

Multiple uncertainties related to the going
concern basis

As disclosed in note 2 to consolidated financial statements,
the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$87,075,000 and capital deficiency of approximately
HK$171,466,000 as at 31 March 2018. The existence of these
uncertainties casts significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to
continue as going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the assumption that the Group will continue as a going
concern, the validity of which is dependent on the favourable
outcomes of the steps being taken by the directors as
described in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
However, we were unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence
to assess the appropriateness and validity of the going
concern assumption. Should the going concern assumption
be inappropriate, adjustments would have to be made to
reclassify all non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities, write down the value of assets to their
recoverable amounts and to provide for any further liabilities
which may arise. These consolidated financial statements do
not include any of those adjustments.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and to issue an auditor’s report. However,
because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'Ss
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Yip Kai Yin with Practising Certificate Number
P05131.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 June 2018

10/F., 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

4‘2;%1Efﬁ,?ﬁ%i‘%ﬁé\ﬂﬁ%i&%éﬁﬁwéz
Bt

ACBRMZBEERREEAGMAR([FEES
FiAE R EBETENY BEXREZGAN
BHRFETERL H B ZBENRSE - AW - AR
BETRRBERCEE MM EE - ANZEED
EZRSRAAEE 2 BRERIERRLERAR
BRRIELBRE R 2 AR

REZEGHMAGRMZEXSENER TR
(TspRI)) - ANZEB Y BEEE  YEREITF
Afp 2 EEREE -

HEARBY 2R E 2 EZBE AR AAERE
(EFEZHEIR - P05131) ©

ML ERETMEERARAR
HES AN
TR 2B N\FRA=tLR

EBNR
2o
R EESI10E

MuREERERDA —T—)/\FFHR 065



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

,-:._ [
%ﬁf?iﬂﬁﬁ%?

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=Z—N\F=A=+—HItFE

2018 2017
2 0\FE _—z= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT
Continuing operations BEKSEEK
Revenue WA 6 26,912 45,091
Cost of sales and services SHE MARTEAL AR (13,364) (22,264)
Gross profit EF 13,548 22,827
Other income HAaplg A 7 135 525
Other losses HunEsa 8 = (1,039)
Distribution costs PaK =D (445) (1,425)
Administrative expenses THEA (16,031) (17,681)
Net fair value gain (loss) on financial assets AR EFABTZZERMEE
at fair value through profit or loss Z AR ERE(EE)FE 26 1,202 (2,042)
Finance costs & AR 9 (31,369) (28,322)
Loss before income tax BRETISTRRTE B 10 (32,960) (27,157)
Income tax expense FriSEif > 12 (1,342) (1,214)
Loss for the year from continuing operations — }5 48R4 %55~ £ E 18 (34,302) (28,371)
Discontinued operation ERIEEEXK
Profit for the year from discontinued ERIHEEEB 2
operation FERH 13 = 158,444
(Loss) profit for the year FE (F518))58 75 (34,302) 130,073
(Loss) profit attributable to owners of KBRS AEE(E5E)
the Company il
— from continuing operations —REAFEEEER (34,175) (27,300)
— from discontinued operation —REBRIEEER - 158,444
(34,175) 131,144
Loss attributable to non-controlling IEEREREEREFE
interests from continuing operations KA TS 7 B (127) (1,071)
(34,302) 130,073
HK cents HK cents
AL il
(Loss) earnings per share attributable to NN B AJEEERR
owners of the Company (Es18) & F| 14
Basic and diluted AR
— from continuing and discontinued —REFELERERIE
operations KBTS (2.27) 19.65
— from continuing operations —REAFECEET (2.27) (4.09)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

et HEkE

For the year ended 31 March 2018 BEZ=Z—N\F=A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FiBT
(Loss) profit for the year FE(EB)HEF (34,302) 130,073
Other comprehensive (expense) income Hih2m(Fx )Hﬁlﬁ?’l
Items that may be reclassified R RJSEEF 7218282
subsequently to profit or 10Ss: EA -
Exchange differences on translation of MEGINETFEE 2
foreign operations PEH =58 (1,319) 8,810
Exchange differences reclassified on HEFARBEN B
disposal of subsidiaries MEHZE = (101,818)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FEHEMEAEMAS (1,319) (93,008)
Total comprehensive (expense) income FE2E(FAR)WERTE
for the year (35,621) 37,065
Total comprehensive (expense) LTALEEZE(FS)
income attributable to: I Es 4878 -
— Owners of the Company —AAREB A (35,248) 37,956
- Non-controlling interests — FEFE R (373) (891
(35,621) 37,065
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e BT R R

Asat31March2018 R-E—N\FE=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F

—E—+tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FET T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - HEER KRR 15 4,659 6,452
Goodwill fEES 17 - -
Other intangible assets HEmEpEE 18 444 531
Investment in an associate —EEE AT 2 IRE 20 = -
Deposit e 21 - 10,000
Deferred tax assets FEIEF A A B 32 - 1,212
5,103 18,195
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 22 172 233
Loan receivables EUE K 23 3,995 700
Trade receivables FEWBE TR 24 28,505 9,505
Prepayments, deposits and FERNFIE - EE2 Rk
other receivables HAth e U skIE 21 5,402 1,742
Amount due from a related company FElS —TEIfE:E A A5 IE 25 2,802 2,667
Financial assets at fair value BARBEABEZ
through profit or loss TREE 26 9,717 36,595
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 27 2,063 12,329
52,656 63,771
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables FETARFX 28 6,256 4,708
Other payables and accruals HinpEA B R EER 29 12,883 9,846
Amount due to a non-controlling A FRE—RIEER
shareholder of a subsidiary A& R SRIE 30 754 677
Borrowings BE 31 40,797 63,901
Convertible bonds A R (& & 33 76,626 -
Tax payable FE 1B 2,415 2,088
139,731 81,220
Net current liabilities REBAEFEHE (87,075) (17,449)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE (81,972) 746
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Asat31March2018 R=-E—N\FE=A=+—H

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—tfF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE FHT FETT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BEHIERE 32 158 354
Convertible bonds AT AR B o5 33 89,336 165,769
89,494 166,123
Net liabilities BERE (171,466) (165,377)
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves IR A
Share capital &N 34 760 457
Reserves 1 (164,504) (158,485)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A2 IS A IR (163,744) (158,028)
Non-controlling interests IR (7,722) (7,349)
Capital deficiency % 2 85 A (171,466) (165,377)

The notes on pages 74 to 175 are an integral part of these F74F175A ZWiHBKZSHEEVHHRE 22—
consolidated financial statements. e

The consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 175 were  H66E175B 2 AV BRREALARAETERN
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the ~ —ZF— A\F/X A -+t BHERE#EEETT - WhHIA

Company on 27 June 2018 and were signed on its behalf. TALTREESE -
Hu Chao Wang Ronggian
fibech FHE
Director Director
EZE EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity
reEaER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=Z—N\F=A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
EINGE N 1

Equity
component
of Non-
Share Share  convertible Capital Merger  Statutory  Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium bonds Reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

TERRS
Bx  BfEE @RS &AG EREE RiER it HERES
HKS000  HKS000 ‘ HKS'000 0

At 1 April 2016 RZF-AEMA-A 83 41900 2816 - (197) 24,347 93,387 (459,448) 2182 (6,4%8) (278,280)
Profit (loss) for the year FEERI(5E) - - - - - - - 131,144 131,144 (10 130073
Other comprehensive income Eh2ERE
- Exchange differences on translation of -RESNEREE/EREE

foreign operations - - - - - - 8630 - 8,630 180 8810
- Exchange differences reclassified upon ~HETRRRERAECELEE

disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (Ft:£36) - - - - - - (101818) - (101.818) - (101,818)

Total comprehensive income (expense)  EE2EUH(BL) 48

for the year - - - - - - (93,188) 131,144 3795 (891) 37,065
Statutory reserve released upon disposal HEFDARSE JETHE

of subsidiaries - - - - - (24.347) - 2,347 - - -
Issue of convertible bonds (note 3) ETARER(HED) - - .16 - - - - - 164 - /164
Direct transaction costs attributable to equity  EREBAR(E 2 EER KA

component - - (1983 - - - - - (1943) - (1983
Conversion of convertible bonds (note (c) BRTRRES(HHC) 40 50,749 (115%) - - - - - 2617 - 2617
Sharesissued or tobeissued inrespectof — BEXREFFISMETAL TR

bond interest payments (note (d)) TRt () 14 (14) - 6,000 - - - - 6,000 - 6,000
At 31 March and 1 April 2017 RIE-tE=A=T+-BREA-R 457 92,635+ 46,835+ 6,000¢ (197) = 199%  (303,957)*  (158,028) (7.349) (165,377
Loss for the year FERR o o o - - - - (34175 (34,175 (127 (34302
Other comprehensive income H2EkE
- Exchange differences on tranglation of -BEENEREL VERER

foreign operations - - - - - - (1,073) - (1,073) (246) (1,319)
Total comprehensive expense for the year E£E2EEAE - - - - - - (1,073) (34,175) (35,248) (373) (35,621)

Conversion of convertible bonds note (c) SRS (IHC) 160 22,902 (4,330) - - - - = 18732 = 18732
Sharesissued or to Deissued inrespectof B REAHEMETURTETL

bond interest payments (note (d)) R (M) 143 16,657 - (6,000) - - - - 10,800 - 10,800
At31 March 2018 W=8-NFZA=1-B 760 132194 42505 - (197)¢ - (874 (338132¢  (163744)  (1722)  (171466)
S These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * REREREOEEAMBERARAZESFHE
—-HK$164,504,000 (2017: -HK$158,485,000) in the consolidated — 164,504,000/ (= ZF —+4F : —158,485,000
statement of financial position. BIT) °
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity # &z & 8%

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=Z—N\F=A=+—HItFE

Notes:

@)

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of a subsidiary acquired and
the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange
thereof pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 20 March 2001 as
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 26 March 2001.

In accordance with relevant regulations prevailing in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), the Company's subsidiaries established
and operating in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of their
profit after income tax calculated under the accounting principles
generally applicable to the PRC enterprises to the statutory reserve
until the fund aggregates 50% of their respective registered capital.
The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior years' losses or to
increase capital. However, the balance of the statutory reserve must
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of capital after these usages.

During the year, the bondholders of the 6% convertible bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$130,000,000 due on 5 November
2018 (the “CB 2018") have converted the CB 2018 with the aggregate
principal amount of HK$20,000,000 at conversion price of HK$0.05
per share into 400,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Share(s)") (2017: aggregate principal amount of HK$30,000,000
converted into 600,000,000 Shares).

During the year, no bondholder of the 6% convertible bonds in
the aggregate principal amount of HK$120,000,000 due on 28
June 2019 (the “CB 2019") has converted the CB 2019 into Shares
(2017: aggregate principal amount of HK$20,000,000 converted into
400,000,000 Shares at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share).

During the year, the bondholders of the CB 2018 and the CB 2019
have requested to pay any interest payable by way of Shares. The
interests of approximately HK$17,865,000 have been paid by way of
the Shares and 357,304,000 Shares were issued at conversion price
of HK$0.05 per share (2017: interests of approximately HK$1,762,000
converted into 35,247,000 Shares).
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEHESRER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE=Z—N\F=A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—g-)\& o

HK$'000 HK$'000

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss) profit before income tax

RerReRnE
BRPASHEAT (B51R) Al

TR

FET

From continuing operations REFELEES (32,960) (27,157)
From discontinued operations REBRIEEEER - 158,451
Adjustments for: AT SIRREE -
Finance costs BE KA 31,369 37,878
Interest income IS ON (135) (349)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFRE 2 Wes - (187,251)
Net fair value (gain) loss on financial assets BAREABZZEMERE
at fair value through profit or loss ZAnEE)EEFE (1,202) 2,042
Depreciation and amortisation rEE Nl 2,033 5,621
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  WERZBEE
plant and equipment (! 44 -
Write-off of items of property, Mm% WERRBEE 2
plant and equipment s = 28
Write-down of inventories FE 2R = 5,003
Impairment of goodwill HERE - 873
Impairment of other intangible assets Hi\EPEE RE = 166
Operating loss before working capital changes BECEFI2KEEE (851) (4,695)
Decrease (increase) in inventories ﬁ S (3Ehn) 61 (233)
(Increase) decrease in loans receivables FEUE ZR (32 00) 7 > (3,295) 3,848
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables FEUBR R (3L I0) iR > (19,000) 5,390
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other TBFUE « e MEAER
receivables IR (3,661) (53,665)
Increase (decrease) in trade payables FERTBRZUIZ AN R 1,549 (7,526)
Increase (decrease) in other payables and Hi N RIE R ESER
accruals IO 3,036 (3,659)
Decrease in provision BERD = 5,521
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERANEFABERZZ
through profit or loss CREE (38,281) (55,498)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEEAREFABRZZ
at fair value through profit or loss CREEMSHE 66,361 16,867
Cash from (used in) operations BEMGMA)ER2 5,919 (93,656)
Interest paid B8 (1) -
Net cash from (used in) operating activities &« EZEfE(FA)RLTH 5,918 (93,656)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Z= &R &R &%k

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=Z—N\F=A=+—HItFE

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of items of property, plant

REFDFERERE
BEME  MENREER

2018
—E-N\F

HK$'000
TR

2017
—E—+F
HK$'000
FET

and equipment (136) (1,656)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE  BENRHFEEE

property, plant and equipment Fr{5 38 180 -
Net cash outflow arising from the disposal HEFRBIMEEZ

of subsidiaries BemntFaE = (54,772)
Deposit refunded (paid) for proposed acquisition  ZzUEEIE B R (S 1)1%e 10,000 (10,000)
Maturity of held-to-maturity investment BEZERERERIE - 5,000
Interest received BEUYF B 1 244
Net cash from (used in) investing activities  REEZBFE(FA) BT 10,045 (61,184)
Cash flows from financing activities METHMERERE
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BITAIMRESFTSHE = 120,000
Expenses on issue of convertible bonds BABRRES CHAX = (7,248)
Proceeds from borrowings EEFSIA 10,000 -
Repayments of borrowings BEEE (35,500) -
Increase in amount due to a director e — R EERIRE = 1,651
Net cash (used in) from financing activities  B& 58 (FTA) BRLTH (25,500) 114,403
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents H4RELZEEMREE (9,537) (40,437)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHRERRESEEY

of year 12,329 64,079
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes, net HNEFE REE) v 255 (729) (11,313)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year SXELRELZEY 2,063 12,329
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR EE

074

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on the GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal
place of business is Room 2007, 20th Floor, C C Wu Building,
302-308 Hennessy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out
in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which includes all
applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASSs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. In addition, these consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
and by Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“"HKCO").

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for certain financial instruments measured at fair
values as explained in the accounting policies set out
below. These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000")
except when otherwise indicated.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 = fif st

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2018. A subsidiary is
an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements,
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 Z= fi st

2.

076

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of
the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating
to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 = fif st

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Going concern basis

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group in light of the fact
that as at 31 March 2018, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$87,075,000 (2017:
approximately HK$17,449,000) and a capital deficiency
of approximately HK$171,466,000 (2017: approximately
HK$165,377,000).

The Directors reviewed the Group’s financial and
liquidity position, and have taken the following actions
to mitigate the liquidity issues faced by the Group:

(a) the shareholders of the Company have
confirmed that they will provide continuous
financial support to the Company for a period
of twelve months from the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2018 by the Directors;

(b) possible fund raising activities including, but
not limited to placing, rights issues or open
offer and issuance of convertible bonds are to
be attempted;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 Z= fi st

2.

078

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

() the Group is in negotiation with financial
institutions and the Company’s bondholders
for new borrowings and extensions of existing
borrowings and convertible bonds upon due
dates and applying for future credit facilities;
and

(d) the management plans to improve the Group's
financial performance by taking steps to reduce
discretionary expenses and administrative
costs and exploring new business which will
provide a growing and recurring source of
income.

In light of the measures and arrangements as
described above, the Directors consider the Group will
have sufficient working capital to meet their financial
obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern basis, adjustments would have to be made
to restate the values of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 = fif st

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Application of new and revised
standards

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSS
for the first time for the current year’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative
HKAS 7
Amendments to Recognition of Deferred
HKAS 12 Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to Disclosure of Interests in
HKFRS 12 Other Entities: Clarification
included in Annual of the Scope of HKFRS 12
Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016
Cycle

None of the above amendments to HKFRSs has had
a significant financial effect on these consolidated
financial statements. Disclosure has been made in
note 37(b) to the consolidated financial statements
upon the adoption of amendments to HKAS 7, which
require an entity to provide disclosures that enable
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash
changes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 Z= fi st

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c) Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9
Amendments to
HKFRS 9
Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)
HKFRS 15

Amendments to
HKFRS 15
HKFRS 16
Amendments to
HKAS 19
Amendments to
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 40
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

HK(FRIC)-Int 23

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions’

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'

Financial Instruments’

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers'

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers?

Leases?

Employee Benefits?

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures?
Transfers of Investment Property’

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration’
Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments?

Annual Improvements  Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28'

2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements  Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,

2015-2017 Cycle

HKAS 12 and HKAS 232

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but

available for adoption

The Directors anticipate that the application of the
above new or revised HKFRSs have been issued but
are not yet effective will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 = fif st

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but not control or
joint control over those policies.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group's investments in associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 Z= fi st

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. BRSTHEER#®

(Continued)

(d) Summary of significant accounting (d) EXSTBEHE S
policies (continued)
Investments in associates (Continued) BENT2RE(E)
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, REAEHBERNRZEATESN
the Group measures and recognises any retained % REBIZAREENMERET
investment at its fair value. Any difference between AREBIRE - REEERTE K
the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of A% - A NT 2 EEME
significant influence or joint control and the fair HERBIGERBERSREBEZ AR
value of the retained investment and proceeds from EZR2 EERENERER -

disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified MR E RN R 2 IR EWFHEARE
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance HE - BIRIEE B SHRE ERFES
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and RIFELEZIERBEEREKLE
Discontinued Operations. EEZETEAER ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 = fif st

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations other than those under
common control are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.
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2.

084

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group's previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or 10ss as a
gain on bargain purchase.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.
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2.

086

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial
instruments and equity investments at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

The Group uses valuation technigues that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation technigues for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation technigues for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorization (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.

088

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, financial assets, deferred
tax assets and non-current assets/a disposal group
classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss
is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person, or a close member of
that person'’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(if) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent; or
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EBEXREFTBEK#)
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting (d EXEFERBE®)
policies (continued)
Related parties (Continued) BEH (&)

ZTR—HER-
FIMEfTERAF -

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b)
conditions applies:

090

0]

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

0]

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

—HMERAE=SE
BzaBRE M3
—ERARESHE
BZBEAT ;

ZEBRAEENKSE
AEEBRECERE
BhIE B M BRI 2 B
BEAIETE

ZERX@AME
BIA LSl KR
i

(@)(0) A3 P 38 Al A = 3
ZERABEATEN
HEBZER(IZE
BERR)ZXEE
BEKRE Rk

ZERIEMBEEE
ZAEAIRC B A AR A
FTEEEABRET
AEEIAEEZH

AT -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 = fif st

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3% t010%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter
of the lease

terms and 10%

Plant and machinery 10% to 20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 10% to 20%
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2.

092

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(Continued)

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives as follows. The
amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss
and included in administrative expenses.

Customer relationship
Club membership

4 years
29.5 years

Tradename with indefinite useful lives is tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with
an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the intangible asset and are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
intangible asset is derecognised.

Leases

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred. In the event that lease incentives
are received to enter into operating leases, such
incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of
rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed.
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2.

094

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Ssummary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values of the leasehold interests in the land element
and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as “prepaid land lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair
value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or l0ss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.
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2.

096

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or l0ss
(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value with net changes in fair value
presented as net fair value gain or 10ss in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. These net
fair value changes do not include any dividends or
interest earned on these financial assets, which are
recognised in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at
the date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in
HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in other income and
gains in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in finance
costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 = fif st

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial asset

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2.

098

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial asset (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 = fif st

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and
for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of
the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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2.

100

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of
future recovery and all collateral has been realised or
has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased
or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary and borrowings.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Convertible bonds
The convertible bond satisfied “fixed-for-fixed”
condition.

The component parts of the convertible bonds are
classified separately as financial liabilities and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. Conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.
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2.

102

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised
cost basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is
determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included
in equity, and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity
will remain in equity until the conversion option is
exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in
equity will be transferred to share premium. When the
conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity
date of the convertible bonds, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to accumulated losses.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of
the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the
equity component are recognised directly in equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability
component and are amortised over the lives of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

2. EBEARSTTEHEE)

(d)

EXEHBEBE®R)

ERMEEE)

BB (E)

AR &5 ()

REITEY  BEFDZAAET
BBUAA R TR ZIRITH S
RIGET o R BRI HRAEE
ERMEEXARINEAR  BEERN
Sz TASIBAER AL -

DERER L IRRETEBE
BEAGTAZAABETHIRARES
DEWETE - RN ERRER R
B BRERTTEHTE - 1o -
DRERRZ L BRES -BERE
REEA - EEZ L RBRETE
Bl ERIERT  BaEAERZ
R E AR EE - R
KAl E 7728 B DR ETTE -
RERPRAZEHRBERE R
B8 o LM HAE R S i sk B R
e B AR AR S EE

HBETAREEFBERZRZRA
DRGSR BRE 2 DL P B
EREREDRY - BESHOE
X HRASEHE B EDER -
HBRIED B R HMARIGA
BEMY ZREE - WRAHARE
FERNRAERN R
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.

104

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the
Group on certain products are recognised based
on sales volume and past experience of the level of
repairs and returns, discounted to their present values
as appropriate.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
pUrposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. BEREFTEHE®
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting (d) EBEASFTBEBZE#)
policies (continued)
Income tax (Continued) R8st (&)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible EEIBEERME R E R =
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused B SERBAHBEE S REMK
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax EABIAERE TR - RET
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable FIEBE AR R A 0 4L a EEF
that taxable profit will be available against which the w A AT AR SR R B R =5
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward HEEARBATIEE R R AREAHIA
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be B - ETRBIBRBRAN

utilised, except:

106

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable
right to set off current tax assets and current tax
liabilities and the deferred taxes assets and deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EBEXREFTBEK#)
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting (d EXEFERBE®)
policies (continued)
Revenue recognition WA TR

ERBENGEARERAAEE - AW
ARER] 2T B - IR T R ERER

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the

108

revenue can be measured reliably, on the following N

bases:

(@  from the sale of goods, when the significant () HEEMZIBWARERESR
risks and rewards of ownership have been HzERRERKLERE ER
transferred to the buyer, provided that ZEEFRER  ERAEET
the Group maintains neither managerial BREB—MEEFERRE
involvement to the degree usually associated EEENEEEERMZIEX
with ownership, nor effective control over the btz
goods sold;

()  from the rendering of services, on the b)) RERBEZWBARERE D

percentage of completion basis; and

interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 = fif st

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Contracts for services

Contract revenue on the rendering of services
comprises the agreed contract amount. Costs of
rendering services comprise labour and other costs of
personnel directly engaged in providing the services
and attributable overheads.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised
based on the percentage of completion of the
transaction, provided that the revenue, the costs
incurred and the estimated costs to completion can
be measured reliably. The percentage of completion is
established by reference to the costs incurred to date
as compared to the total costs to be incurred under
the transaction. Where the outcome of a contract
cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised
only to the extent that the expenses incurred are
eligible to be recovered.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as
they are anticipated by management. Where contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is treated as an amount due from contract
customers. Where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses, the surplus is treated as an amount
due to contract customers.
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2.

110

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group's business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographic area of operations, or
is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued
operation, a single amount is presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, which
comprises the post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation and the post-tax gain or
loss recognised on the measurement to fair value
less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets
or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.

Share-based payments

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the grant date and
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
option reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates during the vesting period,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 = fif st

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Where the terms and conditions of options are
modified before they vest, the change in the fair value
of the options, measured immediately before and
after the modification, is also recognised in profit or
loss over the remaining vesting period.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2.

112

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

Pension scheme (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries, which
operate in the PRC, are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 = fif st

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (the
exchange reserve).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Going concern basis and liquidity

Management makes an assessment of the Group’s ability
to continue as going concern basis when preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The Group is dependent
upon the upcoming business performance, and the
successful implementation and outcome of the measures
as set forth in note 2(a) in order to meet the Group’s future
working capital and financing requirement.

In assessing whether or not the going concern basis
assumption is appropriate, management takes into account
all available information about the future, which is at least
but is not limited to, twelve months from the reporting date
of the consolidated financial statements. Should the Group
be unable to raise new financing or other measures fail to
improve the liquidity of the Group and the Group is unable to
continue in business as a going concern basis, adjustments
would be needed to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets
of the Group to their recoverable amount and, to provide for
further liabilities which might arise.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested
for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
("CGU") exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
CGU and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in
use of the CGU to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the CGU and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. Further details are given in
note 19.

Impairment of loan receivables, trade
receivables and other receivables

The Group assesses provision for impairment of loan
receivables, trade receivables and other receivables based
on an estimate of the recoverability of these receivables.
Provisions are applied to these receivables where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible. The identification of impairment of
these receivables requires the use of estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of receivables and
provision for impairment losses in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Current tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
the PRC. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions in accordance with the prevailing tax regulations
and makes tax provision accordingly. However, judgement
is required in determining the Group’s provision for income
taxes as there are transactions and calculations of which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact on the income tax
and deferred tax provision in the periods in which such
determination is made.

Useful lives of other intangible assets

The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives and consequent related amortisation rate (if any) for its
other intangible assets. These estimates are based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of comparable
intangible assets in related industries. Actual economic life
may vary from estimated useful life. Periodic review could
result in a change in useful lives and consequently increase
or decrease in amortisation expenses.

Useful lives and residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the residual values,
useful lives and related depreciation charges for the Group's
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual residual value and useful
lives of items of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where residual values or useful lives
are less than previously estimated, or it will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a
change in depreciable lives and therefore depreciation in the
future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Provision against obsolete and slow-moving
inventories

Management reviews the condition of inventories of the
Group and makes provision for obsolete and slow-moving
inventory items which are identified as no longer suitable for
sale or use. Management estimates the net realisable value
for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice
prices and current market conditions. The Group carries out
an inventory review at the end of each reporting period and
makes provision against obsolete and slow-moving items.
Management reassesses the estimation at the end of each
reporting period. The identification of obsolete and slow-
moving inventory items requires the use of judgements and
estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact on the carrying value
of inventories and the write-own of inventories recognised in
the period in which such estimate has been made.
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4.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(@) Financial risk management objectives (@)
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loan receivables, trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits, amount due from a related company,
trade payables, other payables and accruals, amount
due to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary,
borrowings and convertible bonds. The carrying
amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting are as

4. BiERERER
R REEBERBE

AEEEESRTABRERAA
B ABSEZEREE  BRE
o EUERR - E A UCGRIR IR
& BE—HEREQRNE - BN
Bk BN IR R AT E R -
FEAF ARl — R IR AR AR BKOR
EERABRERES  c REHRHK -
EREMTAZEREENT
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follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\E —EF—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at fair value through BARERTABRZ
profit or loss TREE 9,717 36,595
Loans and receivables: B EUGRIE
Loan receivables TEWE 3,995 700
Trade receivables FEURBR 3R 28,505 9,505
Other receivables and deposits Ef WA RIL S
(excluding prepayments) (T EIEENIE) 4,976 11,098
Amount due from a related company FEW — MR BAE N RIFR 2,802 2,667
Cash and cash equivalents e RIES%EEY 2,063 12,329
42,341 36,299
52,058 72,894
Financial liabilities o=
Financial liabilities at amortised cost; REBER AT EC SRAE
Trade payables FERTBRIR 6,256 4,708
Other payables and accruals E A SRIB R EET & A 12,883 9,846
Amount due to a non-controlling BT RAE—%
shareholder of a subsidiary IR AR RIA 754 677
Borrowings BE 40,797 63,901
Convertible bonds AR ES 165,962 165,769
226,652 244,901
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

The main risks arising from the Group's financial
instruments are interest rate risk, equity price
risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.
The Group's accounting policies are set out in note
2(d) to the consolidated financial statements.

(a)

@

(i)

Interest rate risk

The interest rate of the Group’s borrowings
is disclosed in note 31. As the Group has no
significant variable interest-bearing financial
assets and liabilities, the Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rate. The Group adopts centralized treasury
policies in cash and financial management
and focuses on reducing the Group'’s overall
interest expenses. The Directors are of the
opinion that the Group’s sensitivity to the
change in interest rate is low.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes
arising from listed equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss. The Directors manage this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risk profiles.

At 31 March 2018, if the market price of
the listed equity securities had increased/
decreased by 10% with all other variables held
constant, the Group's loss after income tax
would have been approximately HK$811,000
(2017: approximately HK$3,056,000) lower/
higher.
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(a)

(iii)

Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Group's exposure
to currency exchange rates in Renminbi (“RMB")
is minimal as majority of the subsidiaries of the
Group operates in the PRC with most of the
transactions denominated and settled in RMB.
The Group currently does not have a hedging
policy on currency risk but the management
would consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

The policies to manage currency risk have
been followed by the Group in prior years and
are considered to be effective.

The following table demonstrates the
sensitivity at the end of the reporting period
to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s loss after income tax
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities) and the Group’s
accumulated losses. Other components of
equity would not be affected by change in
foreign exchange rates.

4.

(a)

ST 45)

B b

MERBEEBERBE®)

(iii)

B ER
ERREREERTAZAR
B ARKE LR ERINEE
REFHMOR KB AR -
HRARE AR FRAE
REZE - BABDORHIA
ARBTAREDIIENRE
8 BMAREAREZARE
DEE = | g BE A o AN SR IR B
3 8 W L B R R HE
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Increase/ Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) (decrease)
(decrease) in loss after in accumulated
in RMB rate income tax losses
BRETEB
N BB 2R
ERHA(TR)  #/0684) 8/ Cad)
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET
2018 —E-N\fF
If RMB weakens against HK$ WMARERBTRE (5) 201 201
If RMB strengthens against HK$ A RB HETIHE 5 (201) (201)
2017 —T—tF
If RMB weakens against HK$ WAREHLATRE (5) 200 200
If RMB strengthens against HK$S AR H & TAHE 5 (200) (200)
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(a)

(iv)

Credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of counterparties’ failure to perform
their obligations in relation to each class of
recognised financial asset is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

As at 31 March 2018, loan receivables of
HK$3,995,000 (2017: HK$700,000) were neither
past due nor individually impaired. The Group
manages and analyses the credit risk for
each of their new and existing clients before
standard payment terms and conditions are
offered. If there is no independent rating,
risk control assesses the credit quality of the
customer, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors.
The Group holds collateral against certain
loan receivables in the form of mortgages
over property. Majority of the collateral are
residential properties, commercial properties
and industrial properties and all of the
collaterals are located in Hong Kong. Individual
risk limits are set based on the value of
collaterals provided by customers and internal
or external ratings in accordance with limits set
by the Directors. The utilisation of credit limits is
regularly monitored.

As at 31 March 2018, trade receivables of
HK$18,505,000 (2017: HK$8,505,000) were
past due but not impaired. These related to
a number of third party customers for whom
there was no history of default. The Directors
are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary for these balances
as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality. Accordingly, these balances are
still considered fully recoverable.

4.

(a)

m B @)

B b

MERBEEBERBE®)

(iv)

FERR

REHJBHYR - AEEHEE
ERRcREEMEHREAY
FHAREBITEEETMER
ZEAEERR  REAY
BRRKAMREZEEEZ
FRE(E -

R-FB-N\F=ZA=+—
H 3995000 %8 (=%
—+ 4 : 700,000/ 7T ) & &
W B R B 42 8 B 7 S A8 1) R
1B - MRHRE A R R
fRftzml - AEEGEE R
IMEREHREFPRERR
FrEERR - & 8B ¥
A& BlRRES S GRS
FEER  ZREFPHMK
A BERBEREMA
E - AEBUMERBTY
A E T RKEFFH EH
e REBREMBHEED
X BRVERIEYE
A2 ERRBUREE -
EREPRENERREE
A RARIZEE R E R REM
EITHRBP I EBRE AR E
B ERREE - ERERE
ERBEMBR

RZBE-—NF=A=1—
H - 18,505,000 7t (= &
—%F : 8,505,000/ 7T ) #) FE
Wik B B BB W RORUE -
RERES NS B EER D
BNE=ZTEPF - R EE
BRUTESANE  ALE
ERRBANZ ST EHRT IR
ERRE - Ftt - RFER
BB RES CEK
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4.

122

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(a)

(iv)

(v)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has put in place policies to ensure
that sales of products or services are made
to customers with an appropriate credit
history and the Group performs credit period
evaluations of its customers. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual receivable at the end
of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are recognised
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
Directors consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are reputable
banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies or state-
owned banks in the PRC.

Other than a concentration of credit risk on
liquid funds which are deposited with several
banks with high credit ratings, the Group has
no significant concentration of credit risk,
as risk exposure is spread over a number of
counterparties and customers.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and an availability of
funding through the ability to close-out market
positions. In the opinion of the Directors,
the Group should have adequate resources
to meet its obligation in the forthcoming
year on the basis set out in note 2(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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4.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4. BIBEREE#)
(@) Financial risk management objectives (a) HXEREEEEREEZ)

and policies (continued)

(v)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (v) FREBESERE)
The following table details the remaining TR AEBMIESTES B
contractual maturities at the reporting date of BERIHREBHZHBTA
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, WEEER - TIREE L
which are based on contractual undiscounted RERR S mE(BIEIRETH
cash flows (including interest payments FEsg (FAEZE)EHEH
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, B2 BIERRI R 5T 2 F 2
based on rates current at the reporting date) PO EAREBE A EAER
and the earliest date the Group can be required fzxFHEMEE
to pay:
At 31 March 2018 R=ZB-—N\F=A=+—H

Total

contractual
On Within Within Over undiscounted Carrying
demand 1year  1t02years 2 years cash flow amount

CHES T
RER -FR -E@FA BAME HERELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

Trade payables JEfTERR 602 5,654 - - 6,256 6,256
Other payables and accruals — E &5 R
ErEE 12,883 - - - 12,383 12,383
Amount due to ERFAT
anon-controlling — 3R
shareholder of REE
3 subsidiary 754 - - - 754 754
Borrowings EE 30,536 10,579 - - 41,115 40,797
Convertible bonds AHRES - 84,800 112,000 - 196,800 165,962
4,775 101,033 112,000 - 257,808 226,652
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4. MBEBEE@®
(@) Financial risk management objectives (a) HBEREEEERBESZ)
and policies (continued)
(v)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (v) REBESEKRE)
At 31 March 2017 RN_E—+F=A=+—H
Total
contractual
on Within Within Over  undiscounted Canrying
demand 1year 1102 years 2\ears cash flow amount
B8
ED —£R —EMER BEME RS HHfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr BT Th BT Th Th
Trade payables e 103 4,605 - - 4708 4708
Other payables and accruals  EAPEEER
EER 9846 - - - 9846 9846
Amount due o a non- AT
controling sharenolder ~ —#3E4HR
of a subsidiary REE 677 - - - 677 677
Borrowings g 6,685 57,465 - - 64,150 63901
Convertible bonds AR ES - - 118000 118000 236,000 165,769
17,31 62,070 118,000 118,000 315,381 244901
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4.
(b) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets are
determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s)
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to
which the inputs to the fair value measurements is

observable.
Fair value
Financial assets as at 31 March
CREE R=A=t—-RZAAE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THIT
Financial assets at fair value 9,717 36,595
through profit or loss
BAREAER EREE

There is no transfer between different levels of the fair
value hierarchy for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The management of the Group estimates the fair value
of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost using the discounted
cash flows analysis.

The management of the Group considers that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated statement of financial position
approximate at their fair values.

R R ER 2
(b) EMIEBENAREE

BEREEUQMABEHERZEAREN
EHMEEZAAE
AEBRAAEFABEZZERE
ERNBERRZOAEFE - TR
REFEMABEZEEREEAN
ZE R (R Bl = A R fh E B B A
2B WREAREEMRERZ
BWABEBCABERESAAER
BN ARERR(E—REFE=
&) o

Fair value
hierarchy
DREER

Valuation technique and
key inputs
HERTREEGARE

Level 1 Quoted share prices in an
active market
F— Bin BB R T5 2 3R(E

BE-_ZT-N\F=A=+—HAL*#F
- TRE&RZAABSRzEL
BER -

Y BREEREEDQNAEFEZE
SEERHEERETRAEZIQANE

AEBEEEEFEAMBRBESROMN
AR ARBEZEERAGEZS
MEENEBRAEBEIANE-

AEEEEERBNGZE M BRMR
RIZBHEKAINRZEREERS
MABREERARERS -
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4. HBREREE#®
(c) capital management (c) BXRER
The primary objectives of the Group's capital AEFBEAERZ EZHIZARE
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to REEZFHERLEE T EFER
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy ZEARLG - AAEEBRMETSE
capital ratios in order to support its business and EAaBREAESESEE -

maximise shareholders’ value.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts REBZEREHEBEEEHLAR
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, RIEE AEMLERZ(BIEEETRA
comprising issued share capital and reserves. NFEfE) -

The Group reviews the capital structure on an REBBFRATENGER  WiRE
annual basis and makes adjustments to it in the CERREB RIBEEE ZRBRE
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk BIELAZ - REFBER - &A%
characteristics of the underlying assets. Based on EedRREER  BTESF
the review, the Group will balance its overall capital B EBMERBH FEHERES
structure through raising or repayment of borrowings, IR o

bond insurance, share pricing and repayment of debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing AREBRBEEABHL RERAEE
ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts Ko BEABLRIZEFLTER U
divided by total assets. At the reporting years ended BERBEFNE -REBEE=_Z—N\F
31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group's gearing ratio F—E—+tF=ZA=+—HIE®RE
was 359.3% and 285.2%, respectively. FE AEEZEESGELES R

7$359.3%52285.2% °
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Digital television: provision of digital television
broadcasting and advertising in Hong Kong and the
PRC;

(b) Car beauty: provision of car beauty and maintenance
services in Hong Kong;

(c) Money lending: provision of mortgage loans and short-
term loans in Hong Kong; and

(d) Securities investments: investments and trading of
securities in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group disposed of
the entire equity interests in Big Success Enterprises Limited
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Disposal
Group”) which engaged in sale of tobacco agricultural
machinery in the PRC. Accordingly, the Group’s tobacco
agricultural machinery operation was treated as discontinued
operation. The segment information reported below does not
include any amounts for the discontinued operation which is
disclosed in note 13.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit or loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit
or loss before income tax. The adjusted profit or loss before
income tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit
or loss before income tax except that bank interest income,
finance costs as well as head office and corporate expenses
are excluded from such measurement.

AEEBNME @ AKRERE®R&REE
DEBEN - DRUTHETZ2HLED

pa
B

@ BFER: REBRTEREHRET
EREERENLES

by REXE: REFEBRHAERTR
HEEARTS

© HE: REBRHEREBERREH
B3R

) FEFERE: REBETEFRER

REBZE_T—tF=A=+—HILFE "
AEEHERRECEARRAREFLAA
([ L EEE ) 2 MEE  ZEERT
Bt FHERERREM 2 X5 - Bt -
AEBEZEERERMEBRA/DRKL
RER - TXE2HZOMEHALTEIE
MBI EZCRIEREER 2EFE
B o

EEEEBEAAKELE DM XA
MEL AR EIR D BL R IR ZIRE o
DERBIZAIERT ER BB AMEHADE
KB 1R 2 °] 2 0 BB A sk B A 1T AT
iy - BABKRABHRANEN RERZFTE
BN SR BRR PG B A s A Sk B 1B 2 St E T
=B ERITHERA -~ BEKRAAK
M B R EERA Y ARNAGREE
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. &S IRER %)

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, corporate DEEEABIEELERIBEAE  CE¥RE
and unallocated assets and assets relating to discontinued PEEENREERIIKLEEBER A
operation. E o

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, convertible SHEBETBEELEHRIBAE  ATRRE
bonds, corporate and unallocated liabilities and liabilities FrERRIEBEUAREBRILLE
relating to discontinued operation. ¥BEBEzaE -

Segment Results DEBELE

For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE-Z—-N\F=A=+—HLEFE

Digital Car Money  Securities
television beauty lending investments Total
YFER REXR M BERE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER

Segment revenue AEBA
Sales to external customers HETINFEP 23,345 3,302 265 - 26,912
Segment results AIPEE 12,696 (2,275) 243 1,202 11,866
Reconciliation: HR
Bank interest income SBITRBMA 1
Unallocated gains KoE 134
Finance costs BIERAK (31,369)
Corporate and other unallocated (M R H RSB S

expenses (13,592)
Loss before income tax BAERRIER (32,960)
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continved) 5. 4S5 IB&E R4
Segment Results (continued) DEEEE)
For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE-_ZT—+tF=-A=+—HILEFEE
Digital Money  Securities
television lending investments Total
HFEHR  AEEDR BE B HERE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THET FHET FHET FHET
Segment revenue S EBUIA
Sales to external customers  $HE&E FIMNBRF 39,759 2,786 2,546 - 45,091
Segment results nEbEAE 18,315 (3,610) 2,528 (2,042) 15,191
Reconciliation: R
Bank interest income RITRIBURA 3
Unallocated gains Koz 522
Finance costs BEKA (28,322)
Corporate and other PEREMRDE
unallocated expenses X (14,551)
Loss before income tax MrETS R A1 (27,157)
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. &S IRER %)

Segment Assets and Liabilities PHEERAR
At 31 March 2018 R=Z-N\F=ZA=+—H

Digital Car Money  Securities
television beauty lending investments Total
¥FE REXR Mf& BHRE Bt

HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TRER

Segment assets PHEE 31,059 1,207 4,006 11,222 47,494
Reconciliation: HIR -
Corporate and other unallocated b2 & H fth

assets RO BE 10,265
Total assets BEE 57,759
Segment liabilities FHEE 13,392 624 187 - 14,203
Reconciliation: HIR -
Deferred tax liabilities BEERARE 158
Convertible bonds BRES 165,962
Corporate and other unallocated R EAM

liabilities AOEBE 48,902
Total liabilities BafE 229,225
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HAl

5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 4

Segment Assets and Liabilities (continued)
At 31 March 2017

EoEER (#)

BEEREE®E)
—E—+F=A=+—H

B

i

Car Money N
beauty lending  investments
REER & BEHRE +

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT  Ten  TAr  TER

Segment assets NEVARE 2,521 842 37,918 53,827
Reconciliation: HIR -
Deferred tax assets ERHIEBEE 1.212
Corporate and other unallocated MR EAM

assets AOBEE 26,927
Total assets BEE 81,966
Segment liabilities NEEE 491 179 - 12,840
Reconciliation: HiR
Deferred tax liabilities BEHARE 354
Convertible bonds RRES 165,769
Corporate and other unallocated 1% % H it

liabilities Aol aE 68,380
Total liabilities BekE 247,343
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. &S IRER %)

Other Segment Information Hth o3& #
For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE-Z-N\F=A=1+—HLEE

Digital Car Money  Securities
television beauty lending investments Total
¥FE REXR Mf& BHRE Bt

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TR TR TR TR TRER

Depreciation wE 230 715 - - 945
Unallocated depreciation ROENE 990
1,935

Amortisation of other intangible Lt ET B E Y

assets 7 91 - - 98
Capital expenditure YN 32 73 - - 105
Unallocated expenditure FOERX 31

136
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. #R& 5 IRE Rl #)

Other Segment Information (continued) Hittp MER(2)
For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE-_ZT—+tF=-A=+—HILEFEE
Digital Car Money Securities
television beauty lending  investments
YTER REER & BEHRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR THT THAT
Depreciation wE 231 716 - - 947
Unallocated depreciation ROBHE 1,010
1,957
Amortisation of other HEth A iy
intangible assets 7 91 - - 98
Impairment of goodwill EERE - 873 - - 873
Impairment of other HitEREERE
intangible assets - 166 - - 166
Write-cown of inventories BEZHR - 21 - - 21
Capital expenditure YN 212 1,176 - - 1,388
Unallocated expenditure FOERY 268
1,656
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134

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from external customers from continuing operations
and non-current assets other than deferred tax assets.

S.

REFIER (2
& E R

TREHABASEREFERLEELZ
SNBEFRARIERBEECRELERBEE
BRON) 2 AT ©

2018
—B-N\F

2017
—t5F
HK$'000
TAET

HK$'000
FExT

Revenue from external customers SHEBEFWA

Hong Kong BB 25,567 39,475

The PRC i 1,345 5,616
26,912 45,091

2018
—B-N\F

2017
—tF
HK$'000
TAET

HK$'000
FER

Non-current assets kREBEE

Hong Kong HE 2,321 14,699

The PRC = 2,782 2,284
5,103 16,983

The geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the services were provided or the goods
delivered. The geographical location of the non-current assets
is based on the physical and operating location of the assets.
The Company is an investment holding company incorporated
in Bermuda and operated in Hong Kong, while the Group
has part of its operations and its workforce in the PRC, and
therefore, the PRC is considered as the Group’s country of
domicile for the purpose of the disclosures as required by
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

Information about major customers

Revenue of HK$4,000,000 (2017: HK$6,000,000) was derived
from a single customer of the digital television operation
segment accounted for 10% or more of the Group's revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2018.
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6. REVENUE 6. WA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT
Continuing operations BESEER
Digital television service income HFERRBUWA 23,345 39,759
Car beauty service income YTEERRBUA 3,302 2,786
Money lending income ERA 265 2,546
26,912 45,091
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HAWA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERx FETT
Continuing operations BEREXEK
Bank interest income HRITHEUA 1 3
Interest income from held-to-maturity BAZRIEREZ
investments FLEWA = 204
Interest income from amount due from a fEUN —FRREE R E A2
related company FBUA 134 135
Sundry income FEEIRA = 183

135 525

MuREERERDE —T—/\FFHR 135



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B 7% 5 Z= fi st

8. OTHER LOSSES 8. HfhEsHE
2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—+fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Continuing operations BESEER
Impairment of goodwill EESEAE! - 873
Impairment of other intangible assets Hth @\ EEmRE = 166
- 1,039
9.  FINANCE COSTS 9. BERAK
2018 2017
—B-N\# —B—t5F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEx FETT
Continuing operations FREREHEK
Interest on other loans wholly repayable ARAFANZEHEEZ
within five years HAaEFHFIE 1,644 1,637
Interest on convertible bonds AmRES 2 FE 29,725 26,785

31,369 28,322
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10. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. FRFFSHRIESIE
Loss before income tax from continuing operations is arrived REFESEEBR ZBRATEHEEEHN
at after charging (crediting): B (BT A A TR IBBED ¢
2018 2017
¢ A& -z
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FiBT
(a) Employee benefit expense (a) EEEFEX
(including directors’ remuneration) (BEESEHS)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMET 9,989 13,183
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRAEFIFT B HE5R 405 591
10,394 13,774
(b) Other items (b) HfEE
Amortisation of other intangible assets HEMER A 98 98
Depreciation of items of property, plant VI - R REBIEER
and equipment e 1,935 1,957
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEMZE - s &
plant and equipment 15 B fE5i8 44 -
Write-off of items of property, plant Wi - #2R REREIEE
and equipment 2 HsH = 28
Write-down of inventories T8 2 MR = 21
Impairment of goodwill EEERE = 873
Impairment of other intangible assets BRI EE2RE - 166
Minimum lease payments under KEMEEET LR
operating leases in respect of BFZ&EHEERNK
land and buildings 3,851 3,877
Minimum lease payments under KEREBR THAZTRE
operating leases in respect of ZRIERENK
office equipment 64 60
Auditors’ remuneration Z AN BN &
- Current year — RFE 580 530
— Over provision for prior year — BEFEBEEE (30) -
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA 213 354
Research and development costs 7 R FEE R AR = 5
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 11. EEMeRTBRsFMES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to RIEGEM_ETTAR BI R B 78 A R 5383(1)
the GEM Listing Rules and section 383(1) of the HKCO and 1ERARRAE2DHB(HBEEEFZER)
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about WEZFEEEMaMT :

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Salaries, allowances Retirement benefit
Fees and benefits inkind  scheme contributions Total
e §e  RURENAG BEERIGT B @it
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

SRR —T-+F SRS —T-+F SRSAEN —T-+F SRS T+
Notes "HKS000" HKS000 ~“HKS000" HKS000 |~ HK000 HKS000 ~HKS000  HKS000
i SOFEE  TAT | FER BT BOFER| TAT BOFER AT

Executive Directors gz

Ms. Wu Meirong RERLL (a) - - 207 - - - 207 -
M. Jingquan Yingzi HRBAEt 1,140 1,140 - - - - 1,140 1,140
Mr. Chin Wai Keung Richard ~ (g% 4 - - 360 158 - - 360 158
Mr. Hu Chao i ) - - 420 307 - - 420 307
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny W& L © - - 240 112 12 5 252 117
Mr. Wang Anyuan IRTEE (A - - 300 0 15 18 315 438
Mr. Wang Ronggian THERE (6) - - 456 400 18 15 474 415

1,140 1,140 1,983 1697 45 3 3,168 2875

Non-executive Director ~ FHTEE

Prof. Liu Guashun 2R f) - 8 - - - - - 8
Independent Non- BUFHTES
executive Directors

M. Hau ChiKi RskE 4] 138 10 . - = - 138 10

Mr.leeChiHwaloshua — ZEERE 120 120 - - - - 120 120

M. Liu Ping AR ) 49 - - - - - 49 -

Mr. SousaRichard Avaro &4 () - 80 - - - - - 80

Ms. Wu Meirong RERLT @ 2 - - - - - 2 -

Mr. Zhao Zhizheng BEERE 120 120 - - - - 120 120
129 30 - - - - 129 30

Total &t 1,569 1,528 1,983 1,697 45 38 3,597 3,263
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11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND FIVE 11. EEMERAEBESHFMNES

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) (#&)

Notes: BiE -

(@) Ms. Wu Meirong was appointed as an independent non- (@ REBRLTAR-_ZT—+FNA=+HEHH
executive Director on 30 August 2017 and re-designated to ABUFHATEERR T —EFNA
an executive Director on 4 September 2017. MEERATARITES -

(b) Mr. Hu Chao was appointed as an executive Director on 22 (b) HBEER-_E—RNELtA-+=-BH
July 2016. ERITES -

(©) Ms. Lin Yan Jenny was appointed as an executive Director on (©) Mo ZETR—_E—~"E+A+HEBEET
14 October 2016. WITEE -

(d) Mr. Wang Anyuan resigned as an executive Director on 1 (d) FETEER - N\FE-F— BT
February 2018. HITEE -

(e) Mr. Wang Ronggian was appointed as an executive Director (e) FTHREAAEN_E—RFANBLEE
on 8 June 2016. WITEE -

G} Prof. Lui Guoshun resigned as a non-executive Director on 14 0} 2R EHBEAR T —RET+ A TUAE
October 2016. EIERITES -

© Mr. Hau Chi Kit was appointed as an independent non- © EEGEEN-_T—XRE+—A=1H

executive Director on 30 November 2016.

Mr. Liu Ping was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 4 September 2017 and resigned as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 February 2018.

Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro resigned as an independent non-
executive Director on 30 November 2016.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2017: Nil).

HEBTERITES -

BIFAER—T—+tFALATNAHIE
NIERITER YR T NF_F—
HE B IEMITES -

BEXEAER_ZE—RE+—HA=+H
BV IFTES -

AEE  BESHRERIFRNEREZTOHE
EP(ZF—LF E) -
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11.

12.

140

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three (2017: three) Directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
the remaining two (2017: two) highest paid employees, which
were individually less than HK$1,000,000, are as follows:

11.

EEMEREERSHMNES

[ yE
MZE\)

AEERERSFHEERE=2(=F%
—tF:ZR)EF - FEZMEFREH
REX - REEHTME(ZT—1H5F:
ME)E=RFMHEE(EZE 2R PN
1,000,000/ 7C) Z HrBHFFISEA T

2018
—E-N\F

2017
—E—+F
HK$'000
FHBT

HK$'000
FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RELREYRZE 1,487 1,438
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  iERAEFIETEIE Sk 36 29
1,523 1,467

During the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors
or the five highest paid employees as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

12.

BE-_ZT—-N\ER-_ZET—+FE=A=+—
ALLFE  ASERERTEFNESKAS
BEeFMEE X MEMNME - EANAR
EERIMAREE % 2 SSE BB o

Pt

2018
—B-N\F

2017
—E—+F
HK$'000
T

HK$°000
TR

Continuing operations BEREEK

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BIERTIE — BB RS 326 2,089
Deferred tax RIERIE 1,016 (875)
Income tax expense FriSEiF 1,342 1,214
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 12. FRBBiMR @)
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on BE_ T \FRZFE—LF=A=1+—
the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the BIEFE  FEMNSHEREBEELZ
years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017. BT ERBUR R A165%( ZF —tF ¢

16.5%):T & -

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at HR B 1 F PG T B T AR R R B AR BA P 1S
the standard rate of 25% on the estimated assessable income FiB B R 3B P B S T 2 AR RO5% - 0fh
as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax STERBEBAGE BE_E—\FEZ
rules and regulations of the PRC. No PRC Enterprise Income E—+F=A=1+—HBILFEE - BETIE
Tax has been provided for the years ended 31 March 2018 A B SEFTIS T o

and 2017.

Reconciliation between the income tax expense and the WERARRAE SRR BAAREEET
Group’s accounting loss from continuing operations at BIREEBESX C STTEB 2 EERET ¢

applicable tax rates is as follows:

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —FtF

HK$'000 HK$'000
TAERT TAET

Loss before income tax from continuing FHESEES ZBRATS AT

operations E5ia (32,960) (27,157)
Tax calculated at Hong Kong income WEBFSHNE16.5%

tax rate of 16.5% FTE IR (5,438) (4,481)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BAERRKRA ZRETE (2,215) (1,422)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses DA T K2 B & 1,102 2,605
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERARBBHRERSIEZ

recognised M 7,893 4,512
Income tax expense FriSEiF = 1,342 1,214
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 13.

On 6 October 2016, the Group entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with an independent third party for
disposal of the Group’s entire equity interests in the Disposal
Group, which were engaged in sales of tobacco agricultural
machinery in the PRC. The transaction was completed on 6
February 2017. Further details are included in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Particulars of the Disposal Group are as follows:

Place of Particulars of

incorporation/ issued and paid up

registration share capital/
Name of subsidiaries and operation registered capital

A/ ERk  EROREERE
FRAEER gk EMEAE

EI\‘%&II@%%%

RIE—RFTARA  AEER—-EF
VYEZNRHEARERHERE 2 25
BEVEE RS  ZRERTENFH
ERERFEMZER - ZXHER=-F
—tEF-ARNAEK © E— FREBENER
BTSRRI EE36

2 BRI T

Percentage held
by the Company Principal activities

APEBEZAES FEEHR
Direct Indirect
B B

Big Success Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands 30,001 shares of
BN EEBR AR HERLES USD1 per share
30,001 EREE
1ETLRG
Kang Yuan Universal Investment Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of
FRBRHEEBR AR B HKD1 per share
10,0005 BREE
BT RG
Mega Top (China) Limited Hong Kong 1 share of
glm (FE) ERAHF & HKD1 per share
REREE
BT RG
Jiangsu Kedi Modern Agriculture The PRC USD11,600,000
Company Limited* H 11,600,000 70

IR RRBRAT

Zhengzhou Ruihao Tobacco Technology The PRC RMB10,000,000
Company Limited* H AR 10,000,000
BNRREERBRARDA

* English translated name is for identification only. The official
name is Chinese.
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 13. BRIEKEER »)
(@  The results of the Disposal Group for the year are (a) HEEBCFEXEZFWT -

presented below:

2017
—ET—tF
HK$'000
FETT
Revenue A 113
Cost of sales SHERAR (57)
Gross profit EH 56
Other revenue N 7
Distribution costs 7 SER R (414)
Administrative expenses THER (18,893)
Finance costs BhE AR (9,556)
Loss before income tax from BRI TS 2 BR TS BB ES 18
discontinued operation (28,800)
Income tax expense Frisfif @)
Loss after income tax from discontinued ER IR EEB 2 RAERILER
operation (28,807)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) HEFARZMe (FIFE36) 187,251
Profit for the year from TR | 4R AR 278 T NN )
discontinued operation and A ANEG 2 FE R
attributable to owners of the Company 158,444
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 13. BERILEKEER 2
(b)  Analysis of the expenses of discontinued operation is (b) BRIHEEEBRAST 22T
as follows:
2017
—ET—tF
HK$'000
FETT
Employee benefit expense BEEFIFX 199
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments — F&{ + #0718 & 2B #E 55 212
Depreciation of items of property, Yz - R EEREEEINE
plant and equipment 3,354
Write-down of inventories FE 2 #Mos 4,982
Minimum lease payments under operating CEREET L REF
leases in respect of land and buildings SEMAERK 459
Cost of inventories sold BEFERA 57
(©  The net cash flows of the discontinued operation © ZEEAUBBRRACKRIERLER
within these consolidated financial statements are as BESREFEOT ¢
follows:
2017
—T—tF
HK$'000
FBT
Operating activities KEEY (84,857)
Financing activities EhEEED 137,074
Net cash inflow R RN FEE 52,217
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14. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 14. ZAATEEAEESR(BE)E

TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY |
Basic (I0ss) earnings per share is calculated by dividing the ERER(EE)BIRFEFARRRHEE A
(loss) profit attributable to owners of the Company by the FEAL (BT ) i M B LA B 317 S @ I 2 AN
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during FEHEEE -
the year.
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET
(Loss) earnings (E518) B Fl
(Loss) profit attributable to owners of the RARIEE A
Company (E18) =T
- From continuing operations — REFEREER (34,175) (27,300)
— From discontinued operation — REBRILEEER - 158,444
(34,175) 131,144
Number of shares R& 8 ‘000 ‘000
T8 T
Weighted average number of B TE AR T8
ordinary shares in issue 1,505,305 667,258
No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss) earnings HRMAREETRRESFARBETE
per share amounts presented for the years ended 31 March M EpRBEEHHRE—_E-N\FER_ZF
2018 and 2017 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the —tF=ZA=+—BHLEFEMEIZ2EK
convertible bonds outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect. EAR(BR) BN SEIEL T -
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e B ERRMEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W3 - HEBENRE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles Total
il %8
BF HENEEE  HERER ES byt &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT Th Th Th Th Th
Cost B
At 1 April 2016 RZE-RFEA-H 43518 2,683 39078 7918 13123 106,320
Additions il - 1210 218 88 50 1,656
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 36) HEFAR(H30) 11,045) (1,869) (15017) (1,764 (6,907) (66,60
Write-off s - (243) - (356) - (599)
Exchange differences EiEg (2473 (113 (2,460) (110) (513) (5,669)
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tE=A=+-H - 1728 21849 5,776 5753 35,106
Additions i - 69 % 3 - 13%
Disposal e - - - - (384) (384)
Write-off ik - (450) - - - (450)
Exchange differences EiZE - - 2445 6 151 2602
At 31 March 2018 W-E-NE=A=1-A - 1,347 24,330 5813 5,520 37,010
Accumulated depreciation and ZiHTERBE
impairment

At 1 April 2016 RZE-NFRA-H 32298 231 31,037 7557 6,385 79618
Depreciation ik 1118 810 1402 3 1908 5311
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 36) HEFAR(ME6) (31,564) (1869) (10699) (1510 (563 (51273
Write-off b= - (242) - (39 - (o7
Exchange differences EXES (1852) (112) (2,001 ™) (375) (4,431
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tE=f=1-H - 928 19,780 5600 2,286 28,654
Depreciation il - 800 24 3 868 1,935
Disposal k= - - - - (160) (160)
Write-off s - (450) - - - (450)
Exchange differences EiEg - - 223 6 134 2312
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NE=R=1-H - 1,278 22,246 5,699 3128 32,351
Carrying amount Kaf
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-N\EZA=1-R - 69 2,084 114 2,392 4,659
At 31 March 2017 R-E-+F=A=1-H - 800 2,069 116 3467 6,452
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16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16.

At L1 ERRIE

2018
—B-N\F

HK$'000
FER

2017
—E—+F
HK$'000
FHETT

Carrying amount REE

Beginning of the year REH] - 9,937
Amortisation s = (212)
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 36) HEF AT (HT:E36) - (9,164)
Exchange differences b 5 =58 - (561)
End of the year RER - -

The leasehold land was situated in the PRC and was held
under a medium term lease.

AE AP E - P ERLARE

17. GOODWILL 17. B2
2018 2017
—E-N\F e e
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT AT
Cost R
Beginning of the year REW) - 248,672
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAA - (236,4006)
Exchange differences EH =58 - (11,393)
End of the year RER - 873
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE
Beginning of the year REHY) - 247,799
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAF - (236,4006)
Impairment recognised during the year FRNERERRE - 873
Exchange differences ME H ZERE - (11,393)
End of the year RER - 873
Carrying amount REE
End of the year RER - =

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are

disclosed in note 19.

BRARERERF ZFERME19KE

Mt REZRERDF
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HihEFEEE
Club Customer
membership Tradename relationship Total
=€ 5L EFBRRZ et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&T FA&T FHT AT
(note)
(FfFaE)
At 1 April 2016 R-ZZE—RFMA—H 124 337 342 803
Amortisation #3E @) - ©n (98)
Impairment recognised R EHERRIE
during the year - (166) - (166)
Exchange differences PEH Z%R (8) - - 8
At 31 March 2017 R-E—+tF=A=+—H 109 171 251 531
Amortisation b3 7) - 91 (98)
Exchange differences FEHZ%E 11 - - 1
At 31 March 2018 R-ZE—-N\E=F=+—H 113 171 160 444
Note: BisE
The tradename is considered by management to have indefinite useful HREHEE 2 BETEREAMRLD - BFER
lives and there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which they PR 2 BABR INER DA R SRR - B IR/E
are expected to generate cash flows for the Group as it is expected REABEABERFEATEH - BRI ALEE
that their value will not be reduced through usage and there are no EXReRZ BRI EeIFERRS - A - KA
legal or similar limits on the period for the use of the tradename. BFRNB RN 8RR ERETRER
Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever B o BREMIERERH 2 BRI 19%5E -

there is an indication that it may be impaired. Particulars regarding
impairment testing on tradename are disclosed in note 19.
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19.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES

Goodwill and other intangible assets with infinite useful lives
were acquired in the acquisition of a car beauty business and
allocated into the car beauty CGU.

The recoverable amount of the car beauty CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation by taking into
account the cash flow projections that are based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period (2017: five-year period) which reflects the prevailing
economic pattern of the operation. The growth for the
calculation of the terminal value is 3% (2017: 3%) which was
benchmarked to the long term average growth rate of the
market.

In the opinion of the Directors, no impairment loss of other
intangible assets (2017: HK$166,000) with indefinite useful
lives was required to be recognised for the year ended 31
March 2018.

The carrying amount of other intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives under the car beauty CGU after impairment at 31
March 2018 was HK$171,000 (2017: HK$171,000).

Goodwill was fully impaired for the year ended 31 March
2017.

19.

BENAREREAFHZEM
B EE RERH

BEMEMAAEREAFHCETEE
RBBEREXREBREA > YOEENR
BXRRGELEM -

MEERBRSEABU 2 KESIETIIA
KA RRBEEEI NI RRIRITEE
KEBEAZAFH(ZE—+F : AFH)
MBEE RS RERAFEZEAER
BE  URBFAMGERXQ/EE - 5
ERRBEZERERIW (T —LF:
3%) e

EERRRNBE_T-/\F=A=+—H
IHFE REEREAFHEMBETLE
EEARARERR(ZZT—tF : 166,000
FBIL) e

R-B-NF=A=+—08 REHERR
CESEMETNAFERFEAFHZHA
B EEREERAEEA171,0008T( =%
—+% : 171,000/ 7T) °

REBEE_ZE—+tF=A=T—HILFE"
BECDEERIE °
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20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 20. —EBERRIZERE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Share of net assets DEFEE 1,163 1,045
Less: Accumulated impairment A BEDRE (1,095) (1,069)
Exchange differences ME H ZERE (68) 24
Amount due from an associate (note (a)) JiE L — P Bt 2 B 0 (B3 (a)) 4,457 4,457
Less: Accumulated impairment B BEHRE (4,457) (4,457)
Particulars of the Group's associate are as follows: AEBE ZEEARFIBLOT ¢

Place of Percentage of

registration Particulars of ownership interest Principal
Name of company and business registered capital attributable to the Group activities

REBERL
AREE AMREEnS FMERER REREZZALL FTEXK
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Jiangsu BCTV Fashion Media The PRC RMB10,000,000 39.20% 39.20%  Dormant
Company Limited (note (b)) H AK#10,000,0007 F%

TEHEERHERERAR (D)

Notes: BisE -

() The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest (a) Bl —REEE AR RIEAEIRR 28
free and repayable on demand. RIRESK(EE -

(b) The company has been dormant since 2010. (b) ZARBE S TEREEE -
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20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 20. —EEERARZIRE#®)
The summarised financial information of the Group’s associate BRAAEEBME AT (RETME TBEKXN)
that is not individually material is set out below: ZHBERIBESEY WM
2018 2017
8-\ —Tt7
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx AT
Total assets BEE 8,497 7,638
Total liabilities wEE (5,530) (4,971)
Net assets FEE 2,967 2,667
Group’s share of net assets of AEBDE—TEBE QR
an associate EFEE 1,163 1,045
Revenue A = -
Loss for the year FEEE = -
Group's share of results of an associate AEE DG —HEE AR
for the year LEEEE = -
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21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21. FEANFE - BERHMEWTIE
RECEIVABLES
2018 2017
—EB-N\EF —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Deposits and other receivables 1Re K E M FEGRIR 4,976 11,098
Prepayments TEfS IR 426 644
5,402 11,742
Analysed into: DA
Non-current portion (note (b)) IETRENZE D (Mi5ED)) - 10,000
Current portion BN 5,402 1,742
5,402 11,742
Notes: BiEE
(@) None of the above assets is either past due or impaired as at () —N\ER_ZT—+tF=ZA=1+—

31 March 2018 and 2017.

(b) On 24 May 2017, the Group and Asian Capital Partners (b)

Group Company Limited entered into the sale and purchase
agreement (the “SPA”) in relation to the proposed acquisition.
A refundable deposit in the amount of HK$10,000,000 was
paid during the year ended 31 March 2017. As certain
conditions precedent to the SPA have not been fulfilled
on or before 30 November 2017, the long stop date as
agreed under the SPA has been lapsed and the deposit was
refunded. Details were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 24 May 2017 and 8 December 2017.
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22. INVENTORIES 22. &
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Finished goods R 172 233
23. LOAN RECEIVABLES 23. EBWER
2018 2017
—E-N\fF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FiBT
Fixed-rate loan receivables & TE F & 2 R E X 3,995 700
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are equal to REBREKERZERFHER(BEREL
contractual interest rates) on the Group’s loans receivables ME)B12%(ZF—+HF : 9%=18%) °

were 12% (2017: 9% to 18%) per annum.

The Group sought to apply strict control over its outstanding REBSKEBZEFHEREERRER
loans receivables and has a credit control department to W R ZE G E A E BRI ERE -
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly BREHRASRERETHEN N
by senior management. Loan receivables were neither past —N\ER_ZE—tF=ZA=+—8 " EK
due nor individually impaired as at 31 March 2018 and 2017. B B R E R RE o
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. FEUWERFR

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTEx FHT

Trade receivables JEUER K 28,505 9,505

(@) Aging analysis (@ RSN
The Group's credit terms with its customers generally REBRETEREFPCEEH KN
range from 30 days to 180 days (2017: 30 days to 180 FIOREI1OKR(ZZE—+F : 30K
days). The Group seeks to apply strict control over F£180K) o NEEFRKERIEITEHIE
its outstanding receivables and has a credit control REBRUGRIE @ WREEES
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances B EERREERE - BELEH
are reviewed regularly by senior management. As HeEREREETHEN - RE2&H
at the end of the reporting period, an aging analysis R+ EUERF 2 BR R 2 A (FOBR IR UK
of the trade receivables, net of provision presented AR 2 R A B E5 2 #iE) i
based on the respective dates on which revenue was ™

recognised, are as follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Current BNER 10,000 -
Within 30 days 30KA - 1,000
31-90 days 31E90K 3,000 8,005
91-180 days 91E180K 8,000 500
Over 180 days 180K A £ 7,505 -
28,505 9,505
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24. FEWERR (&)
(b) Aging analysis of trade receivables that (b) CEH{ERBEZEVRERER
were past due but not impaired Z BRI AT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
0 to 3 months past due BHI0ZE3ME A 3,000 8,005
4 to 6 months past due wHIAZE6fE A 8,000 500
Over 6 months past due m RO A LA £ 7,505 -
18,505 8,505
Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired B HERRE 2 EIRER SR R %
related to a large number of diversified customers HASERERIFEETERHEC
that have a good track record of credit with the SPBEFPEMR BERTEER
Group. Based on past credit history, the management i BEEERE ENZEEEL
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary mEBELSANEHEBEAEHRTIHR
in respect of these balances as there has not been a AR EEURE - AR EES
significant change in credit quality and the balances FHRRERE AEEVEMNZE
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does EREBAAEARR -

not hold any collateral over these balances.

25. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY 25. FEUN—EREE R RFIE

Maximum
balance
outstanding
during the year 2018 2017
FAx=
REZHEE —E-N\F —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHET T
Cyberland (China) Limited R (h B G R A 2,802 2,802 2,667
Cyberland (China) Limited is a company in which the Director, ESHRB TR (P E)BRR A R
Ms. Jingquan Yingzi, has beneficial interests. B o
The amount due from a related company is unsecured, FEU— [ REE R R RIBAEEIR - IRFF|
bears interest at 5% to 7% (2017: 5% t0 7%) per annum and is EEBEIR(ZE—+F : 5%E7%):TE B
repayable within one year. AR —ENEE °
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26.

156

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 26.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong

RER LT 2 RAES

—E—+F
HK$'000
FHBT

36,595

—E-N\F

HK$'000
FHT
9.717

The movements for the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss during the year are as follows:

FREARETABRZ SHEES DD
™

2018 2017

—EB-N\fF —=—tf

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER T

Beginning of the year REH] 36,595 -

Additions B 38,281 55,498
Net fair value gain (loss) recognised RERERZANE

in profit or loss Wzs (B548) F58 1,202 (2,042)

Disposals = (66,361) (16,861)

End of the year RER 9,717 36,595

Net fair value gain (loss) on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss recognised included:

BAREFABSZEMEEZ XA ERE
Rlas (B8 ) FREHE -

2018
—B-N\F

2017
—E—+F
HK$'000
FHETT

HK$'000
TERT

Realised gain (loss) 2EB e (EE) 7,420 (3,361)
Unrealised (l0ss) gain REIE (EB) Ik (6,218) 1,319
1,202 (2,042)

The fair value of all equity securities is based on their current
bid prices in an active market and the fair values are within
level 1 of the fair value hierarchy (note 4).

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018
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27.

28.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

27.

RERBEEEY

2018 2017
—E-N\E —FT—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHETT

cash and bank balances BHEeRRITES
Denominated in HKD LA TTEHE 1,957 11,689
Denominated in RMB A RKEHE 106 640
2,063 12,329

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under the PRC’'s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

TRADE PAYABLES

Based on the invoice date, the aging analysis of the trade
payables is as follows:

28.

ARETAEHARSEMER - AW
RIBH B ZSMNEE DR O R AEE - BER
NEEERT  AREEERBHEET
SNER B EB 2 RITRARB LR SEAM

B o

RITESRIBE BRITERMNEZFEHH
KEREUHS. - RITHEHR K ERERDIFR
PEE RAF BT B 2 A0 ER 2 SRTT -

PE{SBRTR
RERREH  ERRRZRBATAT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Within 30 days 30KA 1,995 4,167
31-90 days 31E90K 3,659 -
91-180 days 912180k = 315
Over 180 days 180K A &= 602 226
6,256 4,708

The Group’s credit terms generally range from 30 to 60 days
(2017: 30 to 60 days) from the invoice date.

AEBEEY  REZBHEH - —RN
FI0FEOR(ZE—+F : 30E60K) °
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. HtENIEREGTER
2018
—E-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
Receipts in advance from customers AW R FFRIE 6,013 5,921
Other payables H b e /I8 416 96
Accruals JEETE R 6,454 3,829
12,883 9,846
30. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING 30. BFRAR—BFERBRERE
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY
The amount is unsecured, interest free and repayable on FRARERERR  £ERRENREE -
demand.
31. BORROWINGS 31. BE
2018 2017
= 0 B
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Other loans, unsecured Hi B JmIRE
Interest free Eas 6,938 6,685
Fixed interest rate at 3% (note) EEFIZE A3%(FIEE) 23,534 57,216
Fixed interest rate at 24% & E T & £24% 10,325 -

40,797 63,901
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31.

BORROWINGS (continued)

Note:

The loan bears interest of 3% (2017: 3%) per annum, is repayable on
7 May 2016 and denominated in HKD. As set out in the Company’s
announcement on 15 February 2017, the Company entered into the
settlement agreement with Artic Blue Corporation (the “Lender”),
pursuant to which, the Lender has conditionally agreed to accept
and the Company has conditionally agreed to issue the convertible
bonds for full settlement of the outstanding principal and accrued
and outstanding interest under the loan agreement on and subject to
the terms and conditions of the settlement agreement, however, the
settlement agreement was lapsed on 15 May 2017.

On 24 May 2017, the Company and the Lender have agreed to enter
into a new deed of settlement (the “First Deed") for full settlement of
the outstanding principal and accrued and outstanding interest under
the loan agreement on and subject to the terms and conditions of the
First Deed, however, the First Deed was lapsed on 24 August 2017.

On 15 November 2017, the Company received a statutory demand
issued by the legal representative of the Lender demanding the
Company to repay the total sum of approximately HK$58,186,000.

On 8 December 2017, the Company entered into a deed of settlement
(the "Second Deed") for full settlement of the outstanding principal
and accrued and outstanding interest under the loan agreement on
and subject to the terms and conditions of the Second Deed. Under
the Second Deed, the Company shall repay HK$5,000,000 in cash
upon execution of the Second Deed and HK$10,000,000 in cash on
or before 30 December 2017 and the remaining sums shall be fully
and finally settled by issuing of the convertible bonds in aggregate
amount of HK$23,000,000. On 11 January 2018, the Company
received a notice of termination and demand letter issued by the
legal representative of the Lender for terminating the Second Deed
and demanding for immediate repayment of all outstanding amounts
of HK$53,412,000, within the next three business days.

On 16 January 2018, the Company received a Statutory Demand (the
“Statutory Demand”) issued by the legal representative to repay all
the outstanding amounts. The Statutory Demand was issued pursuant
to section 178 of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance, Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong. If the
Company fails to repay the Outstanding Amount within 21 days, a
winding-up order may be made in respect of the Company.

31.

E

T

I

)

f

I

puy

=
iy

BEFIREMRIB(ZT—+F  3%)5T 2 0 AR
T RERALRAEEREBIEITE - A
ARARZE—+tF_A+RAZRERE - AR
T E2Artic Blue Corporation([ &7 1) 51 5 &
Bl BEAEAKRHEREER  MARFE
BIEHRIERTAIRRESFAZEEEER D Z
BRZEAEERSARES RS AERZFE
MEEBTEERRZIERRIGHE L ZERR - A
- EERER - E—tFRATHERERR -

RZZE—+FRA-FMA ARFREEHCH
BRI —IEERE((EHRE]) - UEREHE
BERDZEBE N2 HAEERESIAREA R R
BEFE  HEAETENREZ ERRIEEL
SHBR - AW BOHRER-_Z—tENA
AL -

R tE+—ATHE - ARRRERA
BREFH AT EREES - BRALAEE
—EHAFRK /358,186,000 7L 2 FIA °

RZZ—+E+=-ANB  ARBFTL—HEE
I ([F_MHRE])  WEEBEEZHETZ
EMAREERS AR REAREEF S - HEE
FTEZMEBEZER RGN ZERR - IBIEE
—RE - ARARAREYE _HRIFEREER
45,000,000 TER=E—+F+=-_A=+Hs=k
2 BI{E & 38 £ 10,000,000/ 7T © MR EAFKIEE B
41T 4858 /523,000,000 T 2 ] AR (& 5 T E K
BREE -NZT—\F—A+—8  ARFE
BEHFERRBLZEIEBMRERERBREMN
RIEE 3% - WERKRAR=EE B R
RHEEATA i R (B8 5K7853,412,00078 7T °

R-ZZE-N\F—A+RNE  RRREEERAR
BHZREEREEE(EEEREEE]) &
SKABIEPRA HABETIR - AEZRKEBEIR
BEBEPIFERE R A OF B FAIRGESO 15515
178{RE o AR BRAER21 B AEE iH AR 1E
BFOR - AIARBAIREEHHBRS -
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318

160

BORROWINGS (continued)

Note: (Continued)

On 26 April 2018, the Company discovered that a winding up petition
(the "Petition”) under case number HCCW107/2018 was presented by
the Lender to the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Court”) on 24 April 2018 for winding up of the Company.
The Lender alleged that the Company was indebted to it in the sum
of HK$33,178,000. The Company denies that it is indebted to the
Lender in the sum of HK$33,178,000. The Company has engaged in
immediate discussion and negotiation with the Lender to attempt to
settle the dispute and entered into a deed of settlement (the “Third
Deed"”) on 26 April 2018. The Company agreed to effect payment of
HK$25,000,000 (the “Settlement Sum”) to the Lender. The hearing of
the Petition is fixed for 27 June 2018.

On 8 May 2018, the Lender has filed a summons with the Court
and the Company and the Lender have executed an Amended and
Restated Deed of Settlement (the “Amended and Restated Deed of
Settlement”) to amend and restate the payment terms of the Third
Deed, the terms of payment of the Settlement Sum amended and
restated.

On 8 June 2018, the Court has made an order that the Petition against
the Company filed on 24 April 2018 which is not yet published be
withdrawn and the hearing of the Petition fixed for 27 June 2018 be
vacated.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

S

H (S e
BE (&)

BT« (A%

RZE—/\FMNA=-+/"8  AQREEEHE
R-EBE-N\FEWNA-+MOAAEBEITHRES
L3EBr ([VERT 1) IR R 4R SR AHCCW107/2018
ZEBRE2F(HEFABERARGETEE - &
F AR A4S R E A 33,178,000/ T AR
AIGREREF FTETE 26 $£33,178,000/5 7T ©
AABIERERNERE H R i K iEm AR B fE R
ZEE IR \EWNA-+BEE
LE([FE=HRE]) - ARFREBERAES XM
25,000,000 C([/BEEHE]) - Z2FIR T
—N\EXAZTER#ETR -

RZZ-—NFRAANR  EHEMERZERE
R MARFREESERILETNESIZEE
ZE(KETREEERE]) - MERTRE
FIE =1 RIBZNFRIGHK - RERTREIIZ/EE
A L PANENE S/

RZZE—NFRANR - EZREES  BHERZ
Z-N\FUA-THAHHEARTRIEDAR
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32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 32.

The movements for the major deferred tax assets and
liabilities during the year are as follows:

ELEHIREE(BE)

RAEE  TBEEHRBEEENRAEBEZE
T -

Fair value
BN TG
on prepaid
Fairvalue land lease
adjustments  payments
onproperty,  andother Acceletrated
plantand  intangible tax
equipment assets depreciation  Taxlosses  Net Amount
Bffi
BEFE
nE KER  REMEY
REZANE  EEZAR
Eil ERE  NERERE HEER EEi]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TATL TAL
At 1 April 2016 RZE- EMA-A 3,955 (157) (427) 522 3893
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss RERHR 7 ETRE 0 ) 143 690 868
Disposals of subsiciaries (note 3¢) HEF AT (HE36) (3723 I - - (3,681)
Exchange differences EB£E (225) 3 - - 02
At 31 March and 1 April 2017 RZE—tF=A=T-HAREA-H - (70 (284) 1212 858
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss PBRIR Y EERE - 15 181 377 573
Reversal of tax loss due to unprecictabilly AR ia R AR HREERE
of future profit steam - - - (1,589) (1,989
At 31 March 2018 R=8-N\F=AZ1-8 - (55) (103 - (159)

At 31 March 2018, the Group has unrecognised tax losses
of the subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong and in the PRC
of approximately HK$66,330,000 and HK$6,694,000 (2017:
HK$40,214,000 and HK$6,664,000) respectively.

Deferred tax asset in respect of unused tax losses has not
been recognised in the consolidated financial statements
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams against
which the tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses of the
subsidiaries operating in the PRC can be carried forward for
5 years, while tax losses of the companies within the Group
operating in Hong Kong can carry forward their tax losses
indefinitely under the current tax legislation.

R-ZT—-N\F=A=+—8  xEERE
ERRERKEZ FRARZAERARSER
2 Bl 49 5 66,330,000 7T K 6,694,000 7T
(ZZ—+4F : 40,214,000 7T K 6,664,000
BIT) °

B 7 AT B R A 755 B 18 2 oK SO F A R AT
BAR > B ERGEPRBERERANERBREE
ARBARGEBERELERBEE - NP
REZFRAZREBRAGEELSF - W
RBRIBBE  REELEZARH
T RR] 2 BB 1R Rl R B AE e o
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33.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 5 November 2015, the Company issued the 6% convertible
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HK$130,000,000
due on 5 November 2018 (the “CB 2018") with a conversion
price of HK$0.05 per share, subject to customary adjustment.
On 28 June 2016, the Company issued the 6% convertible
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HK$120,000,000
due on 28 June 2019 (the “CB 2019") with a conversion price
of HK$0.05 per share, subject to customary adjustment.

The terms of CB 2018 and CB 2019 are satisfied the “fixed for
fixed” rule in HKAS 32. The proceeds of the CB 2018 and CB
2019 were allocated into two components, debt and equity
elements on initial recognition. The equity elements are
presented in equity component of convertible bonds. The CB
2018 and CB 2019 have been valued as at the date of issue
on the basis carried out at that date by independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group.

The initial recognition of the CB 2018 and CB 2019 was as
follows:

Nominal value of convertible bonds at

ek

R 31T A HIRRARE S

R RES

RZZ—RF+—HARAB  XARETR
© #2%8130,000,0008 TR —E—N\F+—
ARBEIHz6% I MEES (T —F—N\F
AEES]) RRERER005ET
AEEERAE R-ZE—XREXAZTAN
H - AR E)EE1T A% 4#%8120,000,0007% 7T
RZZE—NFERAZTN\BEREZ6%A#
BEF(ZF-NFAREES]) K
ERER0.058TT - AIFEREHE -

—E-N\FAUBRREFR T -NFAHR
BB Z R A BB EFHERIEI25%[ E
ERETE RE - —T— \FARRESFR
“E-NFABRBRES ZAEFRERN S

REDEEMEE D - BIES Mg A
ER o RABRKRES c#EMN 2
5l —E— N\FABRBRESFI_FT-NF
MR ESRETE BETHE  2ER
EASEVEBEZBIAERERMLE
BMPA % A PTETT o

7 e

—E-N\FAUBRREFR-_F-NFAHR
B2 VIR -

CB 2018
—EB-N\F
AR E S

CB 2019
—F-hF
AR 35
HK$°000
TR

HK$°000
TR

issuance date ZHEE 130,000 120,000
Equity component = E o (29,723) (32,164)
Direct transaction costs attributable to the ~ BEZH FE(L

liability component ZEERX KA (5,321) (5,305)
Liability component at the issuance date REETRE 2 BEED 94,956 82,531
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The movements of the liability component of the CB 2018 and
CB 2019 during the year were as follows:

33. AR ESE)

“E-N\FAURBRESF R T -AFAH
BESZABEMORAFEZZEIT

CB 2018 CB 2019 Total
—E-N\F —E-hE
AR ES AR ES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2016 RZE—XRFMNA—AH 102,070 = 102,070
Liability component at the REITREZBESSD
issurance date - 82,531 82,531
Effective interest expense FRERF B
for the year 15,425 11,360 26,785
Conversion during the year FRHIR (25,243) (14,374) (39,617)
Shares issued in respect of bond B ESHFI S METT
interest payments Z 1D (6,000) = (6,000)
At 31 March 2017 R-ZE—+F=A=+—H 86,252 79,517 165,769
Effective interest expense FAEBRMEFRX
for the year 13,906 15,819 29,725
Conversion during the year FRH ;B (18,732) - (18,732)
Shares issued in respect of bond  BE N EHF) B M 21T
interest payments a3 (4,800) (6,000) (10,800)
At 31 March 2018 RNZE—\F=A=+—H 76,626 89,336 165,962

The carrying amounts of the CB 2018 and CB 2019 are
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position

—E-N\FABRREFR-_FT-NFAER
P fE 7 2 BREER AR A MBI R 250

as follows: R
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Current portion ENE D 76,626 -
Non-current portion IERENEL D 89,336 165,769
165,962 165,769

MR EERERDT —T—/\FFR
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The principal terms of the CB 2018 and CB 2019 are as
follows:

164

)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Period

The convertible bonds are due and will mature on
the third (3) anniversary of the date of issuance
of the convertible bonds (the “Maturity Date”).
Any unredeemed and unconverted bond shall be
redeemed at 100% of the outstanding principal
amount in cash.

Conversion

The bondholder of the convertible bonds (the
“Bondholder(s)") has the right (the “Conversion Right”)
to convert the outstanding principal amount of the
convertible bonds in whole or in part into Shares (the
“Conversion Shares”) at any time following the date of
issue until the Maturity Date.

The number of Conversion Shares to be issued on
exercise of a Conversion Right shall be determined by
dividing the principal amount of the convertible bonds
being converted by HK$0.05 (the “Conversion Price”),
subject to customary adjustments in the events of
share consolidation, share subdivision, capitalisation
issues, capital distribution, rights issue and issues of
other securities below 80 per cent of market price.
In the opinion of the Directors, the adjustments to
Conversion Price in those circumstances are all
for anti-dilutive purpose to protect the right of the
Bondholder.

Early redemption

The Company is entitled to redeem the convertible
bonds at 100% of the outstanding principal amount of
the convertible bonds (in whole or in part) at any time
and from time to time at the option of the Company
prior to the Maturity Date.

Interest

The convertible bonds bears interest from and
including the date of its issue at the rate of 6% per
annum on the outstanding principal amount thereof.
The Bondholders have the option to request the
Company to pay the interest by the additional shares
of the Company instead of cash. The Bondholders
have, by notice in writing served on the Company,
required the Company to pay any interest payable
hereunder by way of Shares.
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34, BRAKR

Number of
ordinary

shares of
HK$0.0004 each
BREE
0.0004&8 T2
EZER

Nominal
value

[N
HK$'000

TET

Authorised EE
At 1 April 2016, RZZE—ARFMA—A -
31 March 2017 and —E—+F=ZA=1+—HK

31 March 2018 —E-NA\F=A=1+—H 250,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRAE
At 1 April 2016 RZZE—RFNA—H 108,123,473 43
Conversion of convertible bonds Rpal IR ES (a) 1,000,000,000 400
Shares issued in respect of bond FZAEHFFBMET /]G

interest payments (b) 35,247,095 14
At 31 March 2017 RZE—+F=F=+—H 1,143,370,568 457
Conversion of convertible bonds Hprl &S (@) 400,000,000 160
Shares issued in respect of bond R NEFFEMBEITZRG

interest payments (b) 357,304,107 143
At 31 March 2018 R-E-N\F=A=+—H 1,900,674,675 760

Notes: BfsE -

(@) During the year, the bondholders of the CB 2018 have () RAEE  —B— \FABRES G
converted the CB 2018 with the aggregate principal amount A5EFA AR R BREERSE TEARE
of HK$20,000,000 at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share 42 %820,000,0008 T2 =& — \F A2
into 400,000,000 Shares (2017: aggregate principal amount of % 1& % .32 4 400,000,000 % i 13 (==
HK$30,000,000 converted into 600,000,000 Shares). —4F + RE42%5830,000,000/88 T A A

600,000,000R% %17 ) °
During the year, no bondholder of CB 2019 has converted RAEE  BE_ZT-NEFBERES
the CB 2019 into Shares (2017: aggregate principal amount Z2EFEEARBAERG(ZE—+F
of HK$20,000,000 converted into 400,000,000 Share at 7K & 4888 20,000,000/8 7T B E F %
conversion price of HK$0.05 per share). 0.05B L =T — NEF R ES ik
/400,000,0008% 815 ) ©

(b) During the year, the bondholders of the CB 2018 and CB (b) RAFEE  —TE—N\FAaREHFE
2019 have requested to pay any interest payable by way of —E-NFABRBREFZESFFEA
the Shares. The interests of approximately HK$17,865,000 ERUBRO I HERMEAFIE - FE
have been paid by way of Shares and 357,304,000 Shares #917,865,000 B L E AR B A+ -
were issued at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share (2017: 357,304,000/% f% 17 B 1% X #2 (& & A% 0.05
interests amount of approximately HK$1,762,000 converted BILBET(ZZT— 14 : FE491,762,000
into 35,247,000 Shares). P TUHE . 1 435,247 0008 A5 ) ©
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35.

166

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) has been adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 9 February 2009 for the
primary purpose to enable the Company to grant options
to eligible participants to subscribe for Shares and will
expire on 8 February 2019. Under the Scheme, the Board
may grant options to the eligible participants, including an
employee, a director, a supplier of goods or services, a
customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, an agent,
adviser, consultant, strategist, contractor, sub-contractor,
expert or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any valuable services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any securities issued by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The total numbers of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point of time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point of time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted
to directors, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any of their associates shall be approved by the
independent non-executive Directors and in any event that
the proposed participant is an independent non-executive
director of the Company, the vote of such independent non-
executive director shall not be counted for the purpose of
approving such grant. Options granted to independent non —
executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Share capital or
with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company'’s shareholders.

The amount payable for the acceptance of an option granted
by the Company under Scheme shall be the sum of HK$1.
Options may be exercised at any time specified on the Option
certificate sealed by the Company. The exercise price of an
option is determined by the Board, and will not be less than
the greater of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange'’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

No share option of the Company has been granted under the
Scheme during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 36. HETRAF
As referred to in note 13, on 6 February 2017, the Group B FE13FTM  RZE—+EF AKX
disposed of its 100% equity interest in the Disposal Group H AEBELLESEZHRET —F
to an independent third party for a cash consideration of B E=7 - HEREAS5,000,0005 7T o
HK$5,000,000.
The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the REERS  HESEZEERBEZE
Disposal Group at the date of disposal were as follows: HE{EMT :
2017
B4
Notes HK$'000
FiaE FET
Net liabilities disposed of: EHEAETFRE
Property, plant and equipment M - HER R 15 15,329
Prepaid land lease payments A T B E A 16 9,164
Deferred tax assets BIETIEEE 32 3,723
Inventories FE 21,991
Trade receivables FEWER R 75,398
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FEfFRIE - 124 & E eI R IE 90,546
Tax receivables FEM IR 38
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBESEEY 59,772
Trade payables FETBRIR (41,692)
Other payables and accruals Hb S HIBRIETER (57,111)
Borrowings BE (211,192)
Provision Edi (46,357)
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFIEAE 32 (42)
(80,433)
Reclassification of exchange reserve RILETFREEGER FE
from other comprehensive income EE/ \@%Eﬂkﬁﬁi%ﬁ S E
to the consolidated statement of IREBEmE
profit or loss upon disposal of subsidiaries (101,818)
Gain on disposal H & U 187,251
Consideration RE 5,000
An analysis of the net cash flows in respect of the disposal of HEFRARZHESREFEOMBT ¢

subsidiaries was as follows:

2017
—t5F

HK$'000
TAET

Cash consideration ReERE 5,000
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of B BEHERERACEEYD (59,772)

Net cash outflow arising from the disposal HEMEE 2R RTFE (54,772)
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379

38.

168

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Company has issued Shares for
the settlement of outstanding interests arising from
convertible bonds as disclosed in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities

37.

mERSMEBRMEE

(@ EXFREXSH
RAFEE - HIERE M BRKR M T
SBFAWE - NARIEREN AT ]
BHFMEEZRNFIB BTN -

(b) BMEEFBFELEZEEEH

Convertible
bonds
AR A
HK$'000
TR

Borrowings
BE

HK$'000
TAET

At 1 April 2017 RZZTE—+tFMA—AH 63,901 165,769
Changes from financing cash flows MEBRSREZ EE (25,500) -
Interest expenses AMBERX 1,644 29,725
Conversion into ordinary shares BrRi RSl - (18,732)
Shares issued in respect of bond M AEFFE

interest payments mEErT .2 B D - (10,800)
Exchange differences PE X ZERE 752 -
At 31 March 2018 R-ZE—NFE=A=+—H 40,797 165,962

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 38. EMREFETE

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group operates the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the plans are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control
of trustees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs
to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit plan is to make the specified contribution.

The Group recognised retirement benefit contributions of

HK$405,000 (2017: HK$591,000) from continuing operations
for the year ended 31 March 2018.
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39.

40.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases falling due as follows:

REHERIR
RE/AR - ARBIRET AT ELH
S LA T HIRT B 2 R R R R TR A e
R

2018
—E—N\F

2017
—ET—+tF
HK$'000
F#T

HK$'000
TAERT

Within one year —FR 1,059 2,866
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERF(BREEEMT) 511 308
1,570 3,174

The Group leases a number of properties and office
equipment under operating lease arrangements. The leases
for properties run for an initial period of 1 to 3 years, and
office equipment is for five years. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No contingent liabilities of the Group were noted at 31 March
2018 and 2017.

40.

AEERBKEHERHEARETYER
WMRERME - MEDTABMN F1EI3F -
M AERENIEHRNREF - ZFHE
EHTRERAEE

b

3

S RE

= E

R_E—NFER_ZE—+F=A=+—
B AEBEWETMHREE -

N
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41.

170

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Transactions with related parties

During the year, the Group entered into the following
transaction with a related party:

Interest income from a related

company (note) (FI5E)

41.

BEERRS

(a)

—HREERTZNELA

HEEL 2R 5
RAFE  ARER—EWES
SIUTFRS :

2018
—B-N\F

2017
—E—+F
HK$'000
FHT

HK$'000
FET

134 135

Note:

The Director, Ms. Jingquan Yingzi, has beneficial interest in
this related company.

Remuneration for key management personnel
represents amount paid to the Directors as disclosed
in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, there was no other material
related party transaction during the year.

Balance with related parties

Balances with related parties are disclosed in notes 25
and 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions disclosed above did
not fall under the definition of connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction in Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules, with which the Company
has complied throughout the year unless otherwise
disclosed.
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42. KA BGIEAR R TR
THE COMPANY
As at 31 March N=B=+—H

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets REBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RFRE|Z"E = -
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note (a)) JEU T~ B E (FY 5E(a)) 2,853 334
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FBI3%1E ~ 154 K& B b FE G IE 632 10,672
Amount due from a related company JEU —ERAE A FIFUE
(note (b)) (FF5ED)) 2,802 2,667
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 135 9,057
6,422 22,730
Current liabilities Reas
Amounts due to subsidiaries (note (a)) FERF 2 B (M 5E(a)) 62 1,755
Other payables and accruals HAbfE IR R EET B R 4,421 2,102
Borrowings BE 33,859 57,215
Convertible bonds AR ES 76,626 -
114,968 61,072
Net current liabilities REBAEFHE (108,546) (38,342)
Total assets less current liabilities EERAERRBERS (108,546) (38,342)
Non-current liability FRBARG
Convertible bonds AR ES 89,336 165,769
Net liabilities SEFHE (197,882) (204,111)
EQUITY E=
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital &N 760 457
Reserves (note (b)) e (D) (198,642) (204,568)
Capital deficiency IR A S Al (197,882) (204,111)

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors

on 27 June 2018 and were signed on its behalf.

ARAFBRAKRER T —/\FNA
“tEREEEEHERRETE  XH

ATNALTHRERE -

Hu Chao Wang Rongqian
HHiE T4E

Director Director
EE EE
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 42. A TMFEARRER 2)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

As at 31 March (continued) R=R=+t—RH@#)

Notes: BiE -

(a) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest (@ Rl N FATIREAEER - T2
free and repayable on demand. BEZREK(ER -

(b) The amount due from a related company is unsecured, bears (b) R —ERE AR RIE AEER - RF
interest from 5% to 7% (2017: 5% to 7%) per annum, and is B5%E7% B (ZFE—+F : 5%E7%)
repayable within one year. BAR—FAEE -

(© A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (© RATEERZNT

Equity

component

Share  Accumulated Merger  of convertible
premium losses reserve bonds ~ Capital reserve Total

TERER
R BitFg EiRE E&35 EXiE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000
Tin Thn Tin Thm T Tim
A1 Apri 2016 R-E-~ERA-A 3718 (612213 13107 2,146 - (537,242)
Proft for the year FRRA - 257250 - - - 257250
Conversion of convertible bonds BATARES 50749 - - (1153 - »27
Shares issued n respect of bond nterest payments — BRFEEHEMERZRH (14 - - - 600 5986
Issue of convertiole bonds HITARES - - - 30,21 - 02
At 31 March and 1 April 2017 W-E-+E-A=t-AREA-A 84,453 (354,963) 13,107 46,835 6,000 (204,568)
Loss for the year FEEE - (23,303) - - - (23,303)
Conversion of convertible bonds BATARES 2902 - - 4,330) - 18,572
Shares issued in respect of bond interest payments B FERF SMEAZER 16,657 - - - (6,000 10,657

At 31 March 2018 R=8-NE=A=1-H 124,012 (378,266) 13,107 42,505 - (198,642)
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March
2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Particulars of
issued and paid
up share capital/
registered capital
BRARBERE/
HRERFE

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation
RTES s

Name of subsidiaries

FARER
2018
“E-NE

Sky Dragon Digital Television Hong Kong 21,000,000 shares of 100%
and Movies Limited HKD1 per share

REFByRERAT B0 21,000, 0003 &%

HEIBTZRA

Hunan Xigoxiang Digital ~~ The PRC RMB61,965,219 70%
Television Broadcast
Company Limited

HEREETERERAR PE ARE61,965,2197T

Super Car Service Company - Hong Kong 1 share of HKD1 per share 100%
Limited

—AERBBRAR B REREEET KRG

Success Start Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HKD1 per share 100%

ABERAR B0 REREEET RA

Riseful Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HKD1 per share 100%

RERERRAT B REREEET RG

The above table lists out the subsidiaries of the Company
at 31 March 2018 which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affected the Group's results for the year or formed
a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Group's

effective interest

ARERRER

43. FEFNTFHE
R-B-\ER-FB—tF=A=+-
B ARREBEFRRFELT :

Percentage held
by the Company  Principal activities
KRAGREZESE  EEER
2017 2018 2017
“F+F [Z2-\& —ZT+F
100% 100% 100% Provision of advertising and
movie production and
distribution services
REBEIREFER
Bk%
70% 70% 70% Provision of digital television
service
RESTFEGRE
100% 100% 100% Provision of car beauty and
maintenance Services
REAEZERELRE
100% 100% 100% Provision of money lending
HE
100% 100% 100% Securities investments

ERIFRERBAR =T —NF=A=+—
B2 FRA] BEFERA  ZFFTRAHAK
SEAFEXEBREIEZEXARBRAE
BEEFECERNED - EFRA - I
Hi FARZHBEEHRRBNIIE -
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44. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 44, ZIHEREIR

174

(@)

On 26 April 2018, the Company discovered that
a winding up petition (the "Petition”) under case
number HCCW107/2018 was presented by Artic Blue
Corporation (the “Lender”) to the High Court of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “Court”)
on 24 April 2018 for winding up of the Company. The
Lender alleged that the Company was indebted to it in
the sum of HK$33,178,000. The Company denies that it
is indebted to the Lender in the sum of HK$33,178,000.
The Company has engaged in immediate discussion
and negotiation with the Lender to attempt to settle
the dispute and entered into a deed of settlement (the
“Third Deed") on 26 April 2018. The Company agreed
to effect payment of HK$25,000,000 (the “Settlement
Sum”) to the Lender. The hearing of the Petition is
fixed for 27 June 2018. Further details were set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 26 April
2018.

On 8 May 2018, the Lender has filed a summons
with the Court and the Company and the Lender
have executed an Amended and Restated Deed of
Settlement (the “Amended and Restated Deed of
Settlement”) to amend and restate the payment
terms of the Third Deed, the terms of payment of
the Settlement Sum amended and restated as (i) the
Company shall pay the Lender a 1stinstalment payment
of the Settlement Sum in the sum of HK$10,000,000
by means of cheque dated 23 April 2018 drawn
in favour of Lender’s nominee and the Lender is
entitled to present the said cheque for payment
and in satisfaction of the 1st instalment payment of
the Settlement upon dismissal or withdrawal of the
Petition; (ii) the Company shall pay the Lender the
2nd instalment payment of the Settlement Sum in the
sum of HK$5,000,000 by delivering a cashier order or
bank draft issued by a licensed bank in Hong Kong
in favour of Lender’'s nominee, on or before 31 May
2018; and (iii) the Company shall pay the Lender the
34 and final instalment payment of the Settlement
Sum in the sum of HK$10,000,000 by delivering a
cashier order or bank draft issued by a licensed bank
in Hong Kong in favour of the Lender's nominee on or
before 30 June 2018. Further details were set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 8 May 2018.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018
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44. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (continuea)  44. Z2IREAEBEIE %)

©

On 8 June 2018, the Company announced that the
Court has made an order that the Petition against
the Company filed on 24 April 2018 which is not
yet published be withdrawn and the hearing of the
Petition fixed for 27 June 2018 be vacated.

On 19 June 2018, the Company announced that
the Company has entered into a share acquisition
agreement with a vendor to acquire the entire
equity interests of Guangdong Huatai Energy Co.,
Limited* (ERZEKERBRAF) ("Guangdong
Energy”) for a consideration of RMB10,000 (the
“Acquisition”). Immediately after the completion of
the Acquisition, Guangdong Energy shall become an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
Following the Acquisition, the Group intends to
commence environmental protection (“EP") and
related businesses which may include production and
sale of EP construction materials and EP construction
engineering projects.

0On 22 June 2018, the Company, as potential purchaser,
entered into a non-legally binding memorandum of
understanding (the “MOU") with potential vendor
(the "Potential Vendor”). Pursuant to the MOU, the
Company intends to acquire, and the Potential Vendor
intends to dispose of, the entire capital in a company
(the “Target Company”) that is a winery management
company and principally engaged in the business of
brewing and trading of wine. The Target Company
is committed to forming 020 integrated and unified
wine planform to provide service to consumers in the
world.

* English translated name is for identification only. The official name is

Chinese.

—
O
A

RZZ—-NFXRANB  KARAEE
ERERS - BER-_ZT—N\F
MMA—+mAHFHARBRRE]
AAFMER  MBEHEIR-F
—N\ERA-TEANZHFEA -

RZFB-—A\FEXRATNA - XRF
B 0 NARIERE T BRI
& NBERERERERAR
(TERER]) 2280 - RER
AR®10,000T([WEERE]) - B
BEU B ETHTAE - EIRAEIR KK
RARBZEEZE T AR - R
BEHEER  AKERFARRRFRE
(MRR]) RERER - HAJE8E
FENREERREENHRRRFRRZ
& ILi2EE °

RZB-—NFEXRA=-T=H " &2
A(ERBEE)BEES) ([E
BB DAL TN RERORNZ R
R ([RERETE]) - RIRR
fRfETE > AARRKEMEER
THREE-HIZNEBRENER
BEXBOAREREAR([BER
A Z228BEA - BRRRHAT
O A RE—MEEYE B
EHORBHRHERS -

* EXFFELEERES)  EXEBREXER -

MREERERDE —T—/\FFHR 175



Five-Year Financial Summary
hFEBRME

A summary of the published consolidated results and statement of T3 AREENBERETIR Y GALEREE
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years, is set out EXREEE :
below:

RESULTS ¥EE

Continuing and discontinued operations
BESEERRORILBEEK
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLEFE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—2-N\§ —T+F —TRE ZT-1F
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ ' 000 HK$ 000 HK$ ' 000

FET FAT FAT TAT FHET
Revenue N 26,912 45,204 19,451 131,091 487,956
(Loss) profit attributable to ARARGEA NEN
the owners of the Company (E18 )% F (34,175) 131,444 (233,399) (133,491) (247,690)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE

As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

— 2N\ T+ ZTF ZT-HF ZT0OF
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$ ' 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

FET FHEIT FET FAT T
Total assets BERE 57,759 81,966 276,325 341,652 735,420
Total liabilities BEET (229,225) (247,343) (554,605) 461,537)  (1,174,541)
Net liabilities BEFH (171,466) (165,377) (278,280) (119,885) (439,121)
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